SEMMELWEIS EGYETEM DOKTORI ISKOLA

Ph.D. értekezések

3130.

JORGOV LINDA

Klinikai hematológia és infektológia

című program

Programvezető: Dr. Masszi Tamás, egyetemi tanár Témavezető: Dr. Györke Tamás, egyetemi docens

¹⁸F-FDG uptake of the non-tumour-specific sites on the PET/CT examinations of onco-haematological paediatric patients

PhD thesis

Linda Jorgov

Semmelweis University Doctoral School Károly Rácz Conservative Medicine Division



Supervisor:

Tamás Györke, MD, Ph.D

Official reviewers:

Ildikó Garai, MD, Ph.D Dániel János Erdélyi, MD, Ph.D

Head of the Complex Examination Committee: Viktor Bérczi, MD, D.Sc

Members of the Complex Examination Committee:

Judit Müller, MD, Ph.D Sarolta Szekeres, MD,Ph.D

Budapest

2024

Table of contents:

List of Abbreviations:
I. Introduction
I. 1. Context that led to the selection of this topic for clinical research
I.2. Rationale and published data supporting the investigation of non-tumour-specific FDG uptakes
I.3. Additional studies on the significance of FDG uptake by brown adipose tissue (BAT) on baseline PET: "BAT on bPET studies"
II. Objectives
II.1. Objectives of the pilot study on non-tumour-specific FDG uptake in paediatric patients with Hodgkin lymphoma
II.2. Objectives of the validation study on non-tumour-specific FDG uptake in paediatric patients with Hodgkin lymphoma
II.3. Objective of the studies focusing on brown adipose tissue activation
III. Methods
III.1. Methods of the pilot study21
III.2. Methods of the validation study
III.3. Methods for the "BAT on bPET" studies27
IV. Results
IV.1. Results of the pilot study of non-tumour-specific FDG uptake in children with Hodgkin lymphoma
IV.1.1. Presence of diffuse FDG uptake and evolution of its intensity
IV.1.2. Relation between diffuse uptake, metabolic response of the tumour, and evolution of the disease
IV.2. Results of the validation study of non-tumour-specific FDG uptake in children with Hodgkin lymphoma41
IV.2.1. Presence of diffuse FDG uptake and the evolution of its intensity

IV.2.2. Relation between diffuse uptake and metabolic response of the tumour	43
IV.2.3. Prediction of complete metabolic response	45
IV.3. Results of the "BAT on bPET" studies	48
V. Discussion	.54
V.1. Discussion of the pilot study on non-tumour-specific FDG uptake in children with Hodgkin lymphoma	54
V.1.1. Prevalence of non-tumour-specific FDG uptakes	54
V.1.2. Evolution of diffuse uptake with chemotherapy	59
V.1.3. Ability of diffuse FDG uptake to predict refractory or relapsing Hodgkin lymphoma	61
V.1.4. Limitations of the pilot study	63
V.2. Discussion of the validation study on non-tumour-specific FDG uptake in children w Hodgkin lymphoma	ith 64
V.2.1. Comparison with the results from the pilot study	64
V.2.2. Correlation between the non-tumour-specific FDG uptakes and the metabolic activity of the Hodgkin lymphoma lesions	68
V.2.3. Aspects that could not be addressed in the validation study	71
V.3. Discussion of the "BAT on bPET" studies	71
VI. Conclusions	.80
VII. Summary	.83
VIII. References	.84
IX. Bibliography of the candidate's publication	.98
X. Acknowledgements	100

List of Abbreviations:

Acc: accuracy bPET: baseline PET examination BAT: brown adipose tissue CI: confidence interval CIM: conventional imaging modalities CR/CMR: complete response/complete metabolic response of the lymphoma CSM: conventional staging methods CT: computed tomography DLBCL: diffuse large B-cell lymphoma DS: Deauville score EFS: event-free survival ERA: early response assessment FDG: fluorodeoxyglucose G-CSF: granulocyte-colony stimulating factor HL: Hodgkin lymphoma H/RS: Hodgkin/Reed-Sternberg cells IHP: International Harmonization Project iPET: interim PET examination MRI: magnetic resonance imaging NHL: non-Hodgkin lymphoma NPV: negative predictive value OS: overall survival PET: positron emission tomography PFS: progression-free survival PPV: positive predictive value RFS: relapse free survival

ROC analysis: receiver-operating-characteristic analysis

RRI: relapse risk index

Se: sensitivity

Sp: specificity

SUV: standardised uptake value

SUVmax: maximum value of SUV

SUVmean: mean value of SUV

 Δ SUVmax%: reduction in the maximum value of SUV

TLG: total lesion glycolysis

TMTV: total metabolic tumour volume

US: ultrasonography

WAT: white adipose tissue

I. Introduction

I visited the university hospital Tenon, Paris, in 2012 to enhance my knowledge regarding ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) imaging in preparation for the FDG positron emission tomography (PET) examinations planned at our department in Budapest. Prof. Jean-Noel Talbot was the Chief of the Department of Nuclear Medicine at the Hôpital Tenon, and Prof. Francoise Montravers was the Deputy. After commencing clinical FDG imaging with a coincidence gamma-camera in 1997, this department acquired a PET machine in 1999. The first article published by Prof. Talbot and the Lymphoma Working Party (research and education regarding the role of stem cell transplantation in the management of patients with lymphoid malignancies) of the Assistance-Publique Hôpitaux de Paris PET centre in 2001 reported its added value in the exploration of lymphoma [1]. The diagnosis of lymphoma is made based on the findings of histological examination owing to the lack of specificity of FDG for lymphoma. According to the data available in 2001, FDG PET can detect more lesions than computed tomography (CT) or clinical examination, elucidating the extension of lymphoma that resulted in upstaging in 13% of cases [1]. FDG PET has been used to select an optimal site for biopsy in cases wherein the site selected initially is difficult to access. One of the most promising indications for FDG PET is the staging of lymphoma, which provides baseline images for the subsequent evaluation of the efficacy of therapy. A negative result indicates a response to therapy and subsequent remission with a predictive value of 89% [1]. In contrast, a positive result indicates resistance or predicts relapse with a predictive value of 83%. FDG imaging has facilitated the early detection of recurrence and viable tissue in residual masses that remain for several months after treatment. Notably, its sensitivity (Se; 84%) and specificity (Sp; 95%) are superior to those of conventional imaging modalities, such as CT and gallium-67 scintigraphy [1].

Montravers et al. published data assessing the clinical utility of FDG PET and its impact in case of paediatric patients compared with those of conventional imaging modalities (CIM) in a series comprising 20 children with Hodgkin lymphoma (HL) and seven children with non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) [2]. This was the first routine application of FDG PET in a paediatric population. HL and NHL constitute 15–18% of paediatric malignancies [3]. According to Philip et al., advances in the treatment of these malignancies at the beginning of the 21st century, such as the introduction of aggressive chemotherapy for NHL and combined modality treatment with chemotherapy and radiotherapy for HL, have prolonged survival and reduced mortality rates [4]. The diagnosis of lymphoma is guided by the clinical history, findings of the physical examination, and initial laboratory data; however, appropriate histological examination of the pathological lymph nodes or bone marrow biopsy must be performed to confirm the diagnosis.

CIM comprises CT, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), ultrasonography (US), and gallium-67 scintigraphy. These modalities exhibit a limited ability to differentiate malignant lymph nodes from benign lymph nodes and detect viable malignant tissue within residual masses. Furthermore, CIM may fail to differentiate cancer from fibrosis, especially in cases wherein the patients present with bulky masses, which remain large in approximately 40% of patients with HL after first-line therapy [5, 6].

This pilot study revealed that FDG PET (PET/CT was unavailable at the time of conducting the study) exhibited high Se (12/12) for staging and restaging of the illness, detecting a greater number of more lesions than CIM. Furthermore, it exhibited a patient upstaging rate of 50% (6/12). FDG PET has been used to accurately monitor the response to therapy and characterise residual masses. False-positive results were observed in two patients with NHL with thymic uptake, whereas false-negative results were observed in a patient with NHL who relapsed 1 month after exhibiting negative FDG PET results. The questionnaire survey emphasised the effect of FDG PET on clinical management, which was modified based on the FDG PET results of 23% of the patients. Thus, FDG PET is a very sensitive imaging technique for staging and restaging of lymphoma in children, exhibiting efficacy similar to that observed in the adult population. Furthermore, it can be used to monitor the response to therapy.

Hermann et al. [7] compared the FDG PET and CT results of 25 children with histologically-confirmed HL (n = 18) or NHL (n = 7) using a dedicated PET (without using gamma-cameras which were in use at that time). A total of 662 regions, comprising 470 nodal and 192 extranodal regions, were compared. From these regions 91 (14%), comprising 81 nodal and 10 extranodal regions, were concordant positive, whereas 517 (78%) regions, comprising 347 nodal and 170 extranodal regions, were concordant negative. In case of 47 regions, 48 (7%) discordant findings were observed. Twenty-seven findings (22 nodal and 5 extranodal) could be detected using FDG PET but not on the CT images, whereas 21 findings (17 nodal and 4 extranodal) could be detected using CT but not on PET images. In total 7 (1%) regions were judged equivocal for one imaging modality (FDG-PET [n=1] and CT [n=6]). These findings indicate that compared with CT, FDG PET yielded higher staging in 4 and lower staging in 2 of the 25 patients.

The favourable outcomes of FDG PET in childhood lymphoma were confirmed by Hernandez-Pampaloni et al. 1 year later [8], who conducted a similar study involving 24 patients with histologically-confirmed lymphoma (HL [n=18] and NHL [n=6]) who underwent FDG PET and CT examinations. In the study, 7 PET acquisitions were performed for initial staging, 12 for monitoring therapy response, and 9 for detecting recurrence. A histopathological examination was conducted to confirm the initial diagnosis. The standard of truth at follow-up was established by clinical follow-up, additional imaging modalities, and/or biopsy. PET and CT were concordant in 366 of the 441 regions analysed (positive in 16 regions and negative in 350 regions). Discordance was observed in 48 regions. The diagnostic performance of FDG-PET was as follows: Se, 78%; Sp, 98%; positive predictive value (PPV), 94%; and negative predictive value [NPV], 90%. The diagnostic performance of CT was as follows: Se, 78%; Sp, 88%; PPV, 90%; and NPV, 46%.

Kabickova et al. [9] compared a staging work-up using conventional staging methods (CSM; CMI + bone marrow biopsy) and FDG PET in 55 children and adolescents with HL. They studied 61 FDG PET images. Discordance was resolved through magnetic resonance imaging or clinical follow-up (range 2–47 months). FDG PET correctly

predicted the changes in the staging in 15% of patients (upstaging in seven cases and downstagings in two cases). FDG PET could not accurately stage two (3%) of the 61 patients, owing to the absence of FDG uptake in small parenchymal lung nodules detected on CT. The Se of PET and CSM were 96.5% and 87.5%, respectively. The Sp of PET and CSM were 100% and 60%, respectively. The accuracy (Acc) of PET and CSM were 96.7% and 85.2%, respectively. The diagnostic accuracy of the combination of FDG PET and lung CT reached 100%.

Meany et al. [10] demonstrated the limited value of FDG PET performed at the end of initial treatment to predict subsequent recurrence in their study involving 33 paediatric patients with HL. Twenty two of the 23 patients had negative FDG PET results at the end of therapy. However, positive FDG PET results were observed in 10 patients subsequently, yielding a total of 11 (47.8%) patients with a positive post-treatment FDG PET results. Five patients underwent six tissue biopsies. Four of these specimens were negative for disease, whereas two specimens revealed HL relapse. Six patients who were monitored clinically remained asymptomatic. Repeated PET examinations revealed resolution of abnormalities in four cases; in contrast, persistently positive, but stable PET findings were observed in two patients who continued to be in remission 11 and 40 months following treatment. Twelve (52.2%) patients belonging to the original cohort who exhibited consistently negative FDG PET findings did not exhibit relapse. Consequently, the authors concluded that FDG PET is a sensitive (100%) but not a specific (57%) method for evaluating the post-treatment status of paediatric patients with HL with a strong negative predictive value (100%), but poor PPV (18%).

In the same year, Lin et al. [11] published a prospective study involving 92 patients with newly diagnosed diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL) that aimed to assess the prognostic value of early FDG PET using standardised uptake value (SUV) compared with that of visual analysis. The patients underwent FDG PET (PET/CT in the case of 11 patients) before and after receiving two cycles of chemotherapy (midtherapy). The maximum and mean values of SUV (SUVmax and SUVmean, respectively) normalised to body weight and the body surface area, as well as tumour-to-normal ratios, were computed for the areas that exhibited the most intense uptake. Visual analysis

comprising receiver-operating-characteristic (ROC) analysis of the SUVs, tumour-tonormal ratios, and the changes in these parameters over time was performed to predict the event-free survival (EFS) and overall survival (OS). Survival curves were estimated through Kaplan–Meier analysis and compared using the log-rank test.

Visual analysis revealed that the accuracy of early PET to predict EFS was 65%. The 2y EFS estimate was 51% (95% confidence interval [CI], 34–68%) and 79% (95% CI, 68–90%) in the FDG-positive and FDG-negative groups, respectively (p = 0.009). ROC analysis yielded an optimal cutoff value of 65.7% for reduction in SUVmax from baseline to midtherapy, with an accuracy of 76% for predicting EFS. The 2-year EFS estimate was 21% (95% CI, 0–42%) and 79% (95% CI, 69–88%) in patients with SUVmax reduction of ≤65.7% and >65.7%, respectively (p < 0.0001). Fourteen patients with positive visual analysis results could be reclassified as good responders.

Thus, SUV-based assessment of therapeutic response at midtherapy, rather than at the end of first-line chemotherapy, improves the prognostic value of early FDG PET compared with that of visual analysis in DLBCL.

The first international workshop on the utility of PET in lymphoma was convened in April 2009 at Deauville to discuss strategies that target the lack of uniform and reliable criteria for interim PET scan interpretation [12]. The utility of applying a five-point scale to the visual analysis and the additional value of SUV analysis were investigated. These criteria are widely known as the Deauville criteria and have been incorporated into the Deauville five-point scale. The scale scores for the sites exhibiting the most intense FDG uptake in a site of initial disease, if present, were as follows:

1. No uptake

2. Uptake lesser than or equal to that observed in the mediastinum

3. Uptake greater than that in the mediastinum but lesser than or equal to that in the liver

4. Moderate increase in uptake compared with that observed in the liver

5. Marked increase in uptake compared with that observed in the liver and/or new sites of disease.

The guidelines issued by the European Society for Medical Oncology in 2011 [13] state that FDG PET may be considered in HL according to the revised response criteria.

FDG imaging has evolved in the years preceding my educational stay in Paris. Hybrid PET/CT machines (available at Hôpital Tenon since 2004) have replaced PET machines. The use of low-dose "non-diagnostic" CT has been favoured over the use of these machines as it facilitates the attenuation correction of PET images and the anatomical landmarking of the PET foci using the CT component of PET/CT fused images. The time of flight of annihilation photons of PET have been implemented in those machines, in particular, the Philips PET/CT machine available at Hôpital Tenon since 2009. These evolutions have resulted in an overall reduction in the total radioexposition burden, an important concern in the paediatric population. The total radioexposition burden was increased by the low-dose CT but decreased by the better PET signal with time of flight imaging, resulting in a reduction in the injected radioactivity without a loss in image quality.

Rhodes et al. addressed the added value of performing follow-up FDG PET/CT in their study involving 41 children with lymphoma who had completed treatment [14]. FDG PET/CT with uptake greater than that of the liver was considered positive. Uptake greater than that observed in the background but lesser than that observed in the liver was considered equivocal. Data regarding the clinical outcomes were extracted from the medical records. Positive FDG PET/CT results were observed in 13 (32%) patients. Notably, equivocal results were observed in an equal number of patients during a median follow-up of 2.3 years. Diagnostic CT images revealed new and persistent abnormalities in 13 (32%) and 21 (51%) children, respectively. Five children developed recurrent disease, and one child developed another cancerous lesion. No children with equivocal positivity developed recurrent disease. The SE and PPV of FDG PET/CT were 95% and 53%, respectively. The SE and PPV of diagnostic CT were 79% and 52%, respectively. Thus, the authors concluded that negative FDG PET/CT results obtained during routine follow-up is strongly suggestive of the absence of recurrence in children with lymphoma. In contrast, positive PET/CT and diagnostic CT images

indicate low PPV and should be interpreted with caution in this setting. This conclusion was confirmed by the findings of further studies.

London et al. [15] conducted a study involving 30 children with HL and 22 children with NHL who underwent a total of 209 FDG PET/CT acquisitions. The standard of truth comprised histopathological findings and a follow-up duration of > 6 months. Most of the sites were FDG-negative and considered to have true-negative results; however, the authors conducted an analysis to select a site based analysis owing to the relatively small number of patients. A total of 5,014 regions, comprising 3,342 lymph node and 1,672 extra-nodal regions, were analysed. FDG PET/CT exhibited a significantly better ability to detect malignant lesions than that of CIM. The Se and Sp of PET were 95.9% and 99.7%, respectively. The Se and Sp of CIM were 70.1% and 99.0%, respectively. The Se values of FDG PET and CIM for detecting HL were 98% (47/48) and 77% (37/48), respectively.

A study involving 30 patients with HL that evaluated FDG PET/CT images acquired for staging revealed that it could detect nodal disease in HL lesion-based with a Se of 88%, which was higher than that of diagnostic contrast-enhanced CT (69%) [16]. FDG PET/CT and diagnostic CT detected additional lesions in 50% and 17% of patients with HL, respectively, on a per patient level. FDG PET/CT led to upstaging in seven cases of HL and NHL each. In contrast, diagnostic contrast CT led to upstaging in two cases of NHL.

Prof. Montravers at Hôpital Tenon co-authored one article with two teams from Germany on the use of FDG PET/CT in children and adolescents with lymphoma [17]. Among the different forms of lymphoma, HL is particularly prevalent among adolescents.

Lymphomas account for 12.5% of the spectrum of childhood and adolescent cancer entities, with HL accounting for approximately 40% of cases according to the German Childhood Cancer Registry. Infants are rarely diagnosed with lymphoma; however, its prevalence increases with age, with adolescents aged 15–19 years accounting for 24.5% of all cases [18].

The World Health Organization (WHO) classification of lymphoid neoplasms [19, 20] classifies HL into four subtypes: nodular sclerosing, mixed cellularity, lymphocyte-rich, and lymphocyte-depleted. Classic HL can be distinguished from the lymphocyte-predominant type, another form of HL.

HL is highly sensitive to chemotherapeutic agents and radiotherapy, with childhood and adolescence HL exhibiting cure rates of 90–95% through a combination of intensive chemotherapy and radiotherapy [21].

Accurate initial staging plays an important role in correct stratification according to the chemotherapy dose and the irradiation fields. The major conclusions of this review article were as follows:

- The role of FDG PET in HL and NHL must be evaluated separately owing to the substantial differences between these entities in terms of histology, disease manifestation, and treatment.

- Classic HL exhibits high FDG-uptake and prompt response to chemotherapy; in contrast, the FDG-uptake is generally lower in lymphocyte-predominant HL.

- Regional tumour involvement in patients with classic HL can be diagnosed through FDG PET. The Se and Sp of FDG PET exceed those of CIM.

- Bone marrow involvement in patients with classic HL, which is often overlooked during bone marrow biopsy, can be easily detected with FDG PET.

- Evaluation of treatment response by early interim PET after 1–2 cycles of chemotherapy can be used to predict the prognosis of patients with classic HL and aggressive NHL. Several large, multi-centre studies have evaluated treatment adaptation (intensification or reduction) based on the interim PET results.

I. 1. Context that led to the selection of this topic for clinical research

Prof. Francoise Montravers has served as an investigator of the EuroNet-PHL-C1 trial (Eudra-CT-No:2006-000995-33), the largest European multicentric study on childhood and adolescent classic HL. All children undergo FDG PET/CT for initial staging and

after completing two cycles of chemotherapy. Radiotherapy is omitted if the early interim PET is negative. Over 2000 paediatric patients with low, intermediate, or advanced stages of classical HL were recruited from 18 European countries between 2007 and 2013 to participate in this trial.

The rich experience of the team in Hôpital Tenon in this field and the potential for improving the diagnostic approach for HL led me to join its investigational team assessing the role of FDG PET/CT in paediatric HL.

The European Association of Nuclear Medicine (EANM) dedicated its 2012 Young Investigators Meeting to "The multimodality approach in paediatric oncology: impact on therapy and patient management" [22], emphasising that paediatric oncology is a major domain of research for young investigators.

Prof. Jean-Noel Talbot and Prof. Francoise Montravers proposed evaluating the FDG PET/CT images of patients with HL prospectively included in the French cohort of the EuroNet-PHL-C1 trial through an innovative point of view: the FDG uptake is more likely to be affected by the inflammatory organ reaction induced by HL rather than the HL lesions.

I.2. Rationale and published data supporting the investigation of nontumour-specific FDG uptakes

The HL tumour mass comprises only approximately 1% of malignant Sternberg–Reed cells, which can attract a large number of non-neoplastic mononuclear cells producing various cytokines to maintain malignancy.

Non-tumour-specific FDG uptake by structures without tumour invasion, which has been reported by previous studies, is considered a potential pitfall during initial staging (infrequently) and during/after treatment (more frequently) [10, 23, 24] (Figure 1), despite the Sp of FDG PET being better than that of conventional imaging such as contrast-enhanced MRI, ultrasounds, contrast-enhanced CT [26, 27].



Figure 1. Baseline PET examination of a 15-year-old boy with HL, initial stage IIIBb (participant from our study). Wide HL involvement is visible in cervical, thoracic and abdominal lymph nodes. BAT activation is also present [25].

Several articles have aimed to describe the patterns of non-specific and lymphomaspecific FDG uptake in the thymus [28], spinal cord [29], bone marrow [28, 29, 30], and spleen [29, 30] in adult patients.

Salaun et al. [30] demonstrated that diffuse bone marrow uptake at the time of initial staging of HL could be attributed to bone marrow invasion but is more likely to be attributed to inflammatory changes in the bone marrow, and that diffuse spleen uptake may be associated with microscopic disease involvement, rather than inflammatory change.

Focal FDG uptake in the spleen of patients with lymphoma indicates lymphomatous involvement in most cases, given that other focal splenic pathologies are relatively rare [30, 31]. De Jong et al. reported high Se and Sp values of 75% and 99%, respectively,

of FDG PET for detecting the involvement of the spleen in case of diffuse uptake more intense than that of the liver [31]. However, it is unclear whether the small spleens with normal FDG PET were truly normal owing to the lack of pathologic correlation. Furthermore, the diffuse and intense FDG uptake in the spleen could decrease after the treatment of lymphoma without the involvement of the spleen.

FDG uptake by brown adipose tissue (BAT) has been observed in children. It is a wellrecognised source of pitfalls in the evaluation of HL extent, particularly in cases of HL involving the cervical region. However, FDG uptake by BAT has also been reported to be a predictor of HL disease status in children [32].

The actual incidence and the signification of diffuse and intense FDG uptake by selected organs of children with HL may have been overlooked owing to information available in the same FDG PET/CT examination being missed.

FDG uptake by large inflammatory structures without tumour invasion has been hypothesised to be the consequence of the abnormal inflammation-inducing agents produced by malignant Sternberg-Reed cells. The inflammatory reaction of large structures, which is promoted by the substances released by the HL lesion, may provide relevant information regarding HL:

- an "integrator" in the case of widespread or bulky disease, reflecting the overall activity level at all HL sites better than the tumour uptake of FDG by the most active HL focus;

- an "amplifier" facilitating easier detection of signals by PET; however, very small clusters of Sternberg-Reed cells may not be detectable through non-invasive imaging.

We aimed to evaluate the frequency and intensity of visually diffuse FDG uptake by selected organs on baseline PET/CT (bPET) and interim PET/CT (iPET) images of children with HL and evaluate the correlation of the FDG uptake of these organs with the metabolic response and evolution of disease with treatment.

We performed an observational ancillary study and a validation study with larger cohort using images that had been collected from patients treated at the French centres who provided written consent for the use of their anonymised images and follow-up data for further research (Table 1). Additional examinations were not performed for this study, and the radiation exposure of the children was confined to the two PET/CT examinations scheduled in the EuroNet-PHL-C1 trial only.

I.3. Additional studies on the significance of FDG uptake by brown adipose tissue (BAT) on baseline PET: "BAT on bPET studies"

Metabolically activated BAT takes up FDG [33]. The resulting FDG foci or masses represent a well-recognised source of pitfalls in the evaluation of the extent of cancer [34]. This is particularly true in the case of cancer involving the cervical region, a frequent localisation of HL invasion of lymph nodes. FDG uptake by the fat in the supraclavicular area was originally called "USA-Fat" [35]. Cohade et al. [35] reported that the prevalence of activated BAT was highest during the January/March period (38/278; 13.7%), which is characterised by low outside temperatures. Notably, the prevalence of activated BAT was significantly lower (30/739; 4.1%) during the rest of the year and greater in females (53/504; 10.5%) than that in males (15/513; 2.9%). Furthermore, patients with activated BAT were younger than those without activated BAT $(46.9 \pm 15 \text{ y vs. } 58.9 \pm 15 \text{ y})$, observed on 23.8% (10/42) of FDG PET/CT images of patients aged ≤18 years and 5.9% (58/975) = 5.9% of FDG PET/CT images of patients aged >18 years. Another study published in the same year [34] reported that FDG PET revealed that the presence of activated BAT in the neck in the paediatric population (4/26; 15%) was significantly more frequent than that in the adult population (16/837; 1.9%).

Ouellet et al. [36] reported that FDG revealed the presence of activated BAT in 328 of the 4842 adult patients (6.8%) involved in their study. The mass and FDG-uptake of BAT decreased with the increase in outdoor temperature, age, and body mass index. Furthermore, the mass and FDG-uptake of BAT in men and patients with diabetes were lower than those in women and adult patients without diabetes.

Brendle et al. [37] studied the FDG uptake by BAT in adult patients with lymphoma by performing PET/CT at different stages of disease evolution. HL exhibited the highest frequency of BAT visualisation (36/206; 17%) among all types of lymphoma; however, no association between BAT and lymphoma metabolic activity was observed.

Drubach et al. [38] analysed the FDG PET/CT images of 172 patients aged 5–21 years and reported that the epidemiology of BAT in paediatric patients varies from that in adult patients. In contrast to the results confirmed by several studies on adults, a very high prevalence of BAT visualisation (76/172; 44.2%) that did not differ significantly between boys (42/97; 43.3%) and girls (34/75; 45.3%) was observed. Furthermore, the BAT activity showed no correlation with the outdoor temperature.

Gilsanz et al. [32] studied the FDG PET/CT images of a smaller but more homogeneous paediatric population comprising 31 paediatric patients (age range: 3.7–18.2 y). Twenty-one of these 31 patients had HL, whereas the remaining 10 patients had NHL. They aimed to compare the prevalence of metabolically active BAT at the time of diagnosis with that after treatment (when there was no evidence of disease) in the same cohort of patients. The overall prevalence of BAT visualisation on FDG PET/CT images was 10% (3/31) and 77% (24/31) at the time of diagnosis and at the time point showing without evidence of active lymphoma, respectively. The corresponding prevalence values in the group with HL were 14% (3/21) and 86% (18/21), respectively.

BAT was considered one of the sites without invasion in paediatric HL in our pilot and validation study. Previous studies have reported conflicting results upon the prevalence of BAT in HL [32, 37]. Therefore, we aimed to elucidate the relation between BAT visualisation on FDG PET/CT at the time of diagnosis in children with HL and the main determinants reported in adults, beyond temperature, sex, age, and the metabolic activity of HL lesions.

Table 1. Summary of the different methodologies performed

* BAT activation was determined on a per-patient basis, irrespective of the extent and intensity

	Paediatric patients involved (n)	Diagnosis of the patients	Evaluation of the diffuse, non- tumour- specific sites	Evaluation of the tumour lesion	Evaluation of the outcome of the disease
Pilot study on non-tumour- specific FDG uptakes	30	Hodgkin lymphoma	Visual and quantitative analysis	Visual analysis	Follow-up data
Validation study on non-tumour- specific uptakes	112	Hodgkin lymphoma	Visual and quantitative analysis	Quantitative analysis	Deauville Criteria
Study on BAT on bPET with French cohort	135	Hodgkin lymphoma	Visual analysis*	Quantitative analysis	n/a
Study on BAT on bPET with Hungarian cohort	92	Hodgkin lymphoma; sarcoma	Visual analysis*	Quantitative analysis	n/a

II. Objectives

II.1. Objectives of the pilot study on non-tumour-specific FDG uptake in paediatric patients with Hodgkin lymphoma

The first objective of the pilot study was to evaluate the frequency and intensity of visually diffuse FDG uptake by BAT and four selected organs on the bPET and iPET images of children with HL.

The second objective was to evaluate the correlation between the FDG uptake of these sites, the metabolic response of the HL sites, and evolution of the disease with treatment. For this purpose, we evaluated whether complete response (CR) was achieved at the end of the scheduled treatment (two, four, or six cycles of chemotherapy according to the group of therapy with or without complementary radiotherapy) or intensification was required during or at the end of the scheduled therapy in patients with refractory disease. Relapse-free survival (RFS) was determined as well.

II.2. Objectives of the validation study on non-tumour-specific FDG uptake in paediatric patients with Hodgkin lymphoma

Similar to the pilot study, the first objective of the validation study was to evaluate the frequency and intensity of visually diffuse FDG uptake by BAT and four selected organs without tumour invasion on the bPET and iPET images in a larger series of children with HL.

The second objective was to evaluate the relation between FDG uptake by the four organs without tumour invasion (SUVmax) and the HL lesions (maxSUVmax, total

metabolic tumour volume [TMTV], and total lesion glycolysis [TLG]) on bPET images prior to commencing treatment.

The third objective was to evaluate the relation between FDG uptake by BAT and the four organs without tumour invasion and the remaining metabolic activity of HL on iPET after two cycles of treatment according to Deauville Score (DS).

II.3. Objective of the studies focusing on brown adipose tissue activation

One objective of the studies focusing on brown adipose tissue (BAT) activation was to elucidate the relation between BAT visualisation on bPET in children with oncological disease (HL or sarcoma) and the main determinants reported in adults (i.e. temperature, sex, age) and non-tumour-specific FDG uptake of organs without tumour invasion.

Other objective of these studies was to evaluate the correlation between the BAT activation and the metabolic activity of the tumour lesions, and identify any significant difference between the results of the patients with HL and those with sarcoma.

III. Methods

III.1. Methods of the pilot study

Data collection was performed by me, a MD personnel of the department. Thus, no authorisation from an Ethics Committee was necessary according to the guidelines. The study was commenced in 2012 [23]. The collection of the 2-year follow-up data from the patients was completed in 2015, corresponding to the end of the treatment of the last included patient.

Patients of the pilot study

Thirty children with HL (15 boys and 15 girls, age range 3–17 years, median = 14) examined between June 2006 and July 2012 with FDG PET/CT at baseline (bPET) and after two cycles of chemotherapy as an interim examination (iPET) were included in this study (Table 2). FDG PET/CT images of a given patient were acquired using the same machine.

Table 2. Characteristics of the patients included in the pilot study

Number of patients:n = 30Sex:Boys (n = 15)Girls (n = 15)

Age at the time of baseline FDG PET: Median = 14 years, range = 3-17

Stage of Hodgkin lymphoma: Stage I–IIA (n = 5)

Stage IIB–IIIA (n = 8)

Stage IIIB–IV (n = 17)

Response after two cycles of OEPA chemotherapy EuroNet-PHL-C1 criteria:

Adequate response (n = 23)

Inadequate response (n = 7) 1–3 (n = 25) 4–5 (n = 5)

Deauville score:

Response to the treatment scheduled according to the treatment group after two cycles of OEPA chemotherapy:

Complete response (CR): (n = 25) Refractory: (n = 5)

Follow-up after the end of treatment:

Overall ($n = 30$, median = 36.5 months, range = 1–61)
(n = 9)
(median = 7 months, range = $1-50$)
(n = 21)
(median = 43 months, range = 28-61)

PET/CT practice in the pilot study

FDG PET/CT acquisitions were performed at five different PET centres across France, as specified in the protocol of the trial summarised as follows: 3-5 MBq/kg of body mass of ¹⁸F-FDG was administered intravenously to well-hydrated patients after fasting for at least 4 h; image acquisition was commenced at least 60 min after the injection. The actual delay between FDG injection and the acquisition of bPET images of each patient was recorded such that the acquisition of the iPET images could be commenced after the same delay. The difference of delay (Ddelay) between bPET and iPET was calculated for each patient. The median Ddelay was 0 min (mean -2.7 min). Acquisition was commenced with low-dose CT without contrast enhancement, followed by PET acquisition from mid-thigh to the skull.

PET/CT reading in the pilot study

All FDG PET/CT analyses and review were performed as masked reading at the Nuclear Medicine Department of Hôpital Tenon. All images were displayed on the same workstation and examined with and without attenuation correction and with and without PET/CT fusion.

Visualisation of activated BAT was determined based on the high FDG uptake in adipose tissue corresponding to negative Hounsfield Units (HU) on CT, whereas the surrounding regions of soft tissue took up FDG with a lesser intensity.

The diffuse FDG uptake was visualised at four sites:

- the thymus
- the bone marrow at the iliac crest
- the spleen
- the spinal cord at the level of the twelfth thoracic (or dorsal) vertebra (Th12).

Only those sites at which the FDG uptake was diffuse and homogeneous within the organ were considered. If this criterion could not be fulfilled, such that the uptake was inhomogeneous with some more active parts within the organ, the site was considered to be probably invaded by HL and was not considered as harbouring non-specific inflammation.

The intensity of diffuse FDG uptake at those sites was quoted according to the following visual scale [30]:

- -1 =less than the liver uptake
- -2 = similar to the liver uptake
- -3 = greater than the liver uptake, considered "intense."

The FDG uptake at each site, including the lower pole of the liver, was also quantified using the standardised uptake value in the pixel with maximum intensity (SUVmax) in a

volumic region of interest of 20 mm in diameter; except for the spinal cord, which required a visually-adapted region of interest.

FDG uptake by activated BAT corresponds to very extensive and non-contiguous foci; thus, this quantification was not performed for BAT.

The visual interpretation for each site were compared, and the SUVmax values were measured and computed to determine the relative variation of SUVmax using the following equation to evaluate the evolution of diffuse uptake between bPET and iPET: (iPET - bPET) / bPET.

According to the "classical" approach, a comparator in the present study, the masked reading of the overall metabolic disease response of those foci, which is considered to correspond to HL, was also performed. The patient was classified as having achieved complete metabolic response (CMR) or in-complete metabolic response by comparing the bPET and iPET images according to the following response criteria of the EuroNet-PHL-C1 trial:

- no persistent enhanced FDG uptake on iPET in all initially involved regions on bPET
- minor FDG uptake on iPET lower than or equal to the uptake in the mediastinal blood pool in at least one of the initially involved regions with residual lesion size of ≥ 2 cm or FDG uptake on iPET lower than or equal to the surrounding background uptake in residual lesions with a size of <2 cm [39].

The masked reader quoted a lack of CMR if these criteria were not fulfilled.

The metabolic disease response was also evaluated using the Deauville Criteria and the corresponding five-point scale on iPET images only [12]. Refinements to the Deauville Criteria that were included in 2014 [40] stating that areas of the body with high physiological FDG uptake could have uptake higher than that of normal liver, yet still be considered to represent CMR, were taken into account. This refinement is applicable to Waldeyer's ring, the bowel, the spleen, and the bone marrow activated by chemotherapy and/or granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF). Uptake at a site of

initial disease that does not exceed that of the surrounding normal tissue can be regarded as CMR in such cases. MR, biopsy, or an interval scan should be considered in areas exhibiting a persistent focal abnormality in the bone marrow in the context of a nodal response, as changes in the bone marrow may take longer to resolve [42].

A score of 1, 2, or 3 corresponded to CMR, whereas a score of 4 or 5 corresponded to a lack of CMR.

Follow-up and relapse-free survival in the pilot study

It was recorded whether CR was obtained at the end of the scheduled treatment (two, four or six cycles of chemotherapy according to the group of therapy with or without complementary radiotherapy), or if additional therapy was needed during or at the end of the scheduled treatment to obtain CR in case of refractory disease. Patients were then followed-up according to the standard procedure for paediatric HL, to confirm whether or not the patient was still in CR, and with complementary medical visits in case of suspected relapse. Relapse-free survival (RFS) was determined from the date of the end of treatment reaching CR until the date of the last medical visit if the patient was still in CR or until the visit when relapse was diagnosed.

Statistics

The non-parametric Mann–Whitney U or Wilcoxon test was used to compare quantitative data, respectively unpaired or paired, and the Fisher's exact test to compare proportions. The McNemar's test was used to compare sensitivity, specificity and predictive values of the different criteria. A p value less than 0.05 was considered significant.

Receiver operating characteristics (ROC) analysis was performed to determine the best cutoff value for the criterion according to the Youden index, and the area under the curve was compared to 0.5. The analysis of RFS was performed according to the Kaplan-Meier method.

III.2. Methods of the validation study

An independent and larger series involving the FDG PET/CT images of 112 children and adolescents with HL was collected according to a well-established practice to validate the results of the pilot study (Table 3). The study design was similar to that of the pilot study: patients aged < 18 years underwent two FDG PET/CT acquisitions (at baseline before commencing treatment [bPET] and at the interim evaluation after two cycles of treatment [iPET]). The FDG PET/CT acquisitions were performed between September 2010 and February 2015 at various PET centres in France and submitted for masked reading at Hôpital Tenon.

Differences from the study variables and end points of the pilot study

The methods used in this larger study were identical to those used in the pilot study (please refer to Chapter III.1. "Methods of the pilot study" for further details). However, some additions were made in this "validation" study in terms of the study variables to better reflect the metabolic mass and activity of HL lesions. In addition, some changes in the statistical analysis and the secondary objectives were also made.

Table 3. Characteristics of the patients included in the validation study

Number of patients:	n = 112
Sex:	Boys $(n = 47)$
	Girls $(n = 65)$
Age at baseline FDG PET:	Median = 14.4 years (range = 4.5–17.9)
DS on iPET:	1 (n = 34)
	2(n=24)
	3 (n = 23)
	4(n=27)
	5(n=4)

The comparator, i.e., the FDG uptake by the HL lesions was evaluated visually according to two criteria in the pilot study: the response criteria of the EuroNet-PHL-C1 study and the Deauville criteria. The EuroNet-PHL-C1 criteria scores were derived based on the differences between bPET and iPET; in contrast, the Deauville criteria scores were derived from iPET only.

Three quantitative parameters reflecting the uptake and the extent of the HL lesions on bPET, prior to interference from the treatment, were introduced in the validation study as follows: maxSUVmax, TMTV, and TLG.

In the prediction of disease outcome Deauville Score (DS) was serving as a reference.

Statistics

The non-parametric Wilcoxon test was used to compare quantitative data. The McNemar's test was used to compare sensitivity, specificity and predictive values of the different criteria. Pearson correlation was used to evaluate the correlation of FDG uptake by HL on bPET and the FDG uptake at the sites without tumour invasion.

ROC analysis was performed by reducing the DS to two levels, "complete metabolic response" or "non-complete metabolic response". Stepwise logistic regression was performed with the dependent variable CR selected according to the Deauville score, a combination of all quantitative variables set to predict CR.

A p value less than 0.05 was considered significant.

III.3. Methods for the "BAT on bPET" studies

Patients

The first study evaluating BAT on bPET involved paediatric patients from French institutes. The data of 135 children and adolescents with HL, comprising 62 boys and 73 girls, who underwent FDG PET/CT at the time of diagnosis (baseline bPET) were

extracted (Table 4). This study focused on BAT activation on bPET, in contrast to the pilot study. Therefore, the data of 10 patients of the pilot study were included in the "BAT on bPET" study as the raw PET/CT images of these patients were available for the quantification of active volume of HL on bPET. The mean age of the patients at the time of undergoing FDG PET/CT was 13.6 year (median = 14.3, range 4.5–17.9). The patients were referred to undergo FDG PET/CT by the Paediatric Oncology Departments of various hospitals most frequently (n > 10) Hôpital Trousseau (n = 26), Institut Gustave Roussy (n = 26), Hôpital Robert Debré (n=22), and Institut Curie (n = 14). The outside temperatures in the town and on the day of each PET/CT acquisition and the minimum, maximum, and mean values were obtained from the dedicated website: infoclimat.fr.

A study involving 92 paediatric patients from Hungary, comprising 48 boys and 44 girls with the mean age 12.9 years (median age = 14 years; range 3–17 years) was performed to analyse the FDG PET/CT examination data obtained at the time of diagnosis (bPET). The patients were diagnosed with HL or sarcoma (osteosarcoma [n = 18], Ewing sarcoma [n = 4], rhabdomyosarcoma [n = 6], and monophasic synovial sarcoma [n = 1]) based on the findings of histological evaluation. Ninety-one patients underwent FDG PET/CT examination using a GE Discovery IQ5 PET/CT device; one patient underwent FDG PET/CT examination using a Siemens TruePoint HD PET/CT device. Patients were treated at the Paediatric Oncology Station, Semmelweis University, Budapest, or at the Heim Pál National Paediatric Institute, Budapest. The outside temperatures in the town and on the day of each PET/CT acquisition were obtained from the dedicated website: timeanddate.com/weather/hungary/budapest.

Table 4. Characteristics of the patients included in "BAT on bPET studies"

Cohort with French patients:

Number of patients:n = 135Sex:Boys (n = 62)
Girls (n = 73)Age at baseline FDG PET:Median = 14.3 years (range = 4.5–17.9)Diagnosis of the patients:Hodgkin lymphoma (n=135)

Cohort with Hungarian patients:

Number of patients:	n = 92	
Sex:	Boys $(n = 48)$	
	Girls $(n = 44)$	
Age at baseline FDG PET:	Median = 14 years (range = $3-17$)	
Diagnosis of the patients:	Hodgkin lymphoma (n=63)	
	sarcoma (n=29)	

FDG PET/CT practice

FDG PET/CT was performed in a manner similar to that in the pilot study. The method can be summarised as follows: well-hydrated children or adolescents received an intravenous injection of FDG after fasting for at least 4 h. Image acquisition was commenced at least 60 min after injection.

FDG PET/CT reading

All FDG PET/CT analyses and reviews were performed as masked reading at the Department of Nuclear Medicine, Hôpital Tenon, in the case of patients from France. These analyses were performed by the Department of Nuclear Medicine, Semmelweis University, in the case of Hungarian patients. The analyses were performed by a nuclear medicine physician experienced in FDG PET/CT reading. Activated BAT was detected

based on the presence of a high FDG uptake in the adipose tissue corresponding to negative Hounsfield Units (HU) on CT and the lesser intensity of the FDG uptake of soft tissue in the surrounding regions.

BAT activation was determined on a per-patient basis, irrespective of the extent and intensity of the hyperfunctioning foci or masses on FDG PET/CT (Figure 2).

The metabolic activity of the HL lesions was determined as reflected by the following variables [42].

- Maximum value of the SUVmax of all HL lesions (maxSUVmax) measured only on the data of the group with 135 patients from France
- Total metabolic tumour volume (TMTV)
- Total lesion glycolysis (TLG)

A volume of interest was set around each HL lesion (lymph node or organ). TMTV was defined as the sum of the volume of all nodal and extranodal HL lesions. Bone marrow and/or spleen involvement was included in HL volume measurement only if focal uptake was observed. TLG is defined as the sum of the products of the metabolic volume divided by the SUVmean of each HL lesion.

Furthermore, similar to the pilot study, the SUVmax was measured in the structures without tumour invasion in the cohort comprising 135 patients. The sites with enhanced glucose metabolism compared with the HL activity included the liver, spinal cord at the Th12 vertebra, and iliac crest reflecting the bone marrow. Similar to the pilot study, only the sites with diffuse and homogenous FDG uptake within the organ were considered.

The TMTV and TLG of the tumour lesions were the focus of the study conducted in Hungary. The primary intention was to visualise the possible correlation between the BAT activation and the TMTV and TLG values of the tumour lesions and identify any significant difference between the results of the patients with HL and those with sarcoma.



Figure 2. PET/CT fused images (1), CT images (2) and PET MIP image (3) of a 9year-old patient with osteosarcoma. Visualisation of FDG uptake in the primary tumour of the right humerus (a), metastatic lymph node in the right axillary region (b), and brown adipose tissue (BAT) in the left axillary region (c) [43].

Statistics

The non-parametric Mann–Whitney test was used to compare the quantitative data of the 135 paediatric patients from France. The chi-square test was used to compare proportions.

The Mann–Whitney, chi-square, and Fisher's exact tests were used to analyse the data of the 92 patients from Hungary. The logistic regression model was fitted to further analyse the relationship between BAT activation and other variables.

A p-value of <0.05 was considered significant in both studies.

IV. Results

IV.1. Results of the pilot study of non-tumour-specific FDG uptake in children with Hodgkin lymphoma

IV.1.1. Presence of diffuse FDG uptake and evolution of its intensity

Brown adipose tissue (BAT)

Activation of BAT was noted on bPET and iPET images of two and five patients, respectively. Activation of BAT was visible on both PET/CTs in only one patient.

Other sites

Focal uptake was observed in the spleen in one case and in the thymus in five cases, which was considered to correspond to HL invasion. FDG uptake by the thymus could not be evaluated in six and three cases on bPET and iPET images, respectively, owing to the presence of the large bulk of HL tissue in the upper mediastinum.

Diffuse uptake that was visually quoted as 3 and considered "intense" (i.e., more intense than liver uptake) on bPET was observed more frequently in the spleen (48%) than in the spinal cord at the thoraco-lumbar junction (43%), bone marrow (37%), or thymus (21%). At least one site exhibited diffuse and intense uptake on bPET in the large majority of patients (77%).

The number of cases where at least one site exhibited diffuse uptake that were visually quoted as 3 decreased on iPET compared with that on bPET (to 23%). This decrease was statistically significant for the spleen and spinal cord at Th12 (Fisher's exact test; Table 5).

	Baseline PET/CT (bPET)	Interim PET/CT (iPET) (Fisher's exact test vs. bPET)
Brown adipose tissue (BAT) activation	2/30 = 7%	5/30 = 17% (p = 0.4 NS)
Diffuse thymus hyperactivity *	4/19 = 21%	1/22 = 5% (p = 0.16 NS)
Diffuse bone marrow hyperactivity in iliac crests	11/30 = 37%	4/30 = 13% (p = 0.07 NS)
Diffuse spleen hyperactivity *	14/29 = 48%	1/29 = 3% (p < 0.001)
Spinal cord non- nodular hyperactivity at Th12	13/30 = 43%	4/30 = 13% (p = 0.04)
Hyperactivity at least one site (except BAT)	23/30 = 77%	7/30 = 23% (p < 0.001)

Table 5. Pilot study. Detection of sites of non-tumour-specific FDG uptake visuallymore intense than the liver FDG uptake (quoted 3 by the visual scale)

* The denominator takes into account that some of the sites were considered to be invaded by HL or could not be evaluated owing to the neighbouring HL bulk. Consequently, they were excluded from the visual analysis for non-tumour-specific uptake.

Quantitative analysis revealed that the treatment induced a significant overall decrease in SUVmax at three sites (thymus, bone marrow in the iliac crest, and spleen), but not in the spinal cord at Th12 (Table 6). In contrast, an overall significant increase in the FDG uptake by the liver was observed after treatment (p = 0.002), with the median of the relative variation being +13% (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Representative image of a 14-year-old girl with HL in our pilot study, bPET and iPET transversal PET and PET/CT slices at the level of Th12. Visual and quantitative comparisons of bPET and iPET revealed that the liver uptake increased and the splenic uptake decreased after two cycles of treatment. The spinal cord uptake at Th12 also decreased [25].
	Baseline PET/CT SUVmax: median value [range]	Interim PET/CT SUVmax: median value [range] (Wilcoxon's test for paired values)	Relative variation: Median value [range]
Thymus (non-invaded)	1.6 [0.9,3.0]	1.2 [1.0,1.7] (p < 0.001)	-25% [-43%,+11%]
Bone marrow in the iliac crest (non-invaded)	1.8 [0.4,3.8]	1.2 [0.5,2.7] (p < 0.001)	-29% [-61%,+100%]
Spleen (non-invaded)	1.8 [0.8,4.8]	1.3 [0.8,2.7] (p < 0.001)	-21% [-75%,+35%]
Spinal cord at Th12 (non-invaded)	1.7 [0.7,3.4]	1.5 [0.8,3.1] (p = 0.5 NS)	+1% [-47%,+60%]
Liver (non-invaded)	1.7 [0.8,2.5]	1.9 [1.2,2.9] (p = 0.002)	+13% [-16%,+75%]

Table 6. Pilot study. SUVmax of the sites where FDG uptake was quantified (median value [range]) and the influence of two cycles of chemotherapy

Metabolic response of HL sites

The evolution of FDG uptake by HL tissue between bPET and iPET according to the EuroNet-PHL-C1 criteria was observed in 23 of the 30 patients (77%), indicating CMR. According to the Deauville criteria on iPET, 25 of the 30 patients (83%) were considered to have achieved CMR.

IV.1.2. Relation between diffuse uptake, metabolic response of the tumour, and evolution of the disease

Detection of refractory disease

Twenty-five of the 30 children (83%) achieved CR with the scheduled treatment. The remaining five children received complementary therapies before achieving CR, and their disease was considered to be refractory.

The performance of early metabolic response determination according to the EuroNet-PHL-C1 criteria to identify a refractory disease, considering the response to the scheduled initial management as a standard of truth, was as follows: Se, 60% (3/5); Sp, 84% (21/25); PPV, 43% (3/7); NPV, 91% (21/23); and accuracy, 80% (24/30). The corresponding values according to the Deauville criteria were as follows: Se, 60% (3/5); Sp, 92% (23/25); PPV, 60% (3/5); NPV, 92% (23/25); and Acc, 87% (26/30). ROC analysis confirmed that the initial choice of considering a DS of >3 as the criterion for the lack of CMR was optimal. The area under the ROC curve (AUC) was 0.73, with a difference of 0.5 being considered close to statistical significance (p = 0.08).

None of the six children with BAT activation on bPET or iPET experienced refractory disease. However, the implication of this finding is uncertain (Fisher's test p = 0.6) owing to the small number of children with BAT activation (n = 6) and those with refractory disease (n = 5).

ROC analysis was performed to determine whether the quantified diffuse uptake in these sites can be used to identify patients at risk of developing refractory HL. Only the relative variation of the liver SUVmax between bPET and iPET showed a significant difference between median values, with an AUC of 0.90, which was significantly >0.5 (p < 0.0001).

The performance for predicting the development of refractory HL with an optimal cut off value of 0% (no increase in SUVmax between bPET and iPET) was as follows: Se, 100% (5/5); Sp, 84% (21/25); PPV, 55% (5/9); NPV, 100% (21/21); and Acc, 87% (26/30).

The accuracy for predicting refractory HL using variation in the liver uptake was identical to that of the approach using the dual-point DS (1–3 vs. 4–5) at 87%. This accuracy was not significantly higher than that of the approach using EuroNet-PHL-C1 criteria (80%). However, the comparison of AUC revealed a trend favouring the variation of liver uptake vs. five-point scale Deauville criteria that did not reach statistical significance (p = 0.15).

Relapse after complete response

Complete response (CR) was reached at the end of initial treatment. CR was maintained in 21 of the 30 patients (70%) during the median follow-up period of 43 months (range = 28–61). The remaining nine patients relapsed after a median RFS of 7 months (range = 1-50). Six patients relapsed <12 months after the end of treatment, and three patients relapsed at 24, 25, and 50 months.

Relapse showed no significant association with previously refractory HL requiring complementary treatment.

Two of the five patients with initially refractory disease relapsed after 1 and 5 months. Seven of the 25 patients achieved CR with scheduled initial therapy (log rank test; p = 0.22).

ROC analysis was conducted to identify the factors predicting early recurrence within 12 months as the follow-up data were available for all patients.

The EuroNet-PHL-C1 or the Deauville criteria, which reflect the early metabolic response of HL lesions to treatment, exhibited poor PPV for detecting patients at risk of relapsing within 12 months. The PPV and Acc of the EuroNet-PHL-C1 criteria were 14% (1/7) and 63% (19/30), respectively. The corresponding PPV and Acc values for the Deauville criteria were somewhat better at 20% (1/5) and 70% (21/30), respectively. A statistically significant predictor of relapse within 12 months of achieving CR could not be identified among the studied parameters at bPET or iPET, including BAT activation, which could be visualised on bPET or iPET for two patients who relapsed after 6 months. The criterion that achieved the best AUC in the ROC analysis (0.7, p =

0.07) was the variation in the spinal cord uptake at Th12 between bPET and iPET (Figure 4). An increase of > 5% between bPET and iPET was indicative of a higher risk of relapse. The Se, for predicting relapse using this cutoff value was 83% (5/6), Sp71% (17/24), PPV 42% (5/12), NPV 94% (17/18), and Acc 73% (22/30). However, a significant difference was observed in terms of the median values of spinal cord uptake at Th12 according to recurrence or prolonged response during the overall follow-up duration.



Figure 4. ROC curve depicting the ability of the variation in FDG uptake of the spinal cord, measured at Th12, between bPET and iPET to predict relapse within 12 months of completing treatment

Two unfavourable criteria were derived from this analysis of the evolution of diffuse FDG uptake in these sites between bPET and iPET: no increase in the liver FDG uptake and increase of > 5% in the spinal cord FDG uptake. The "relapse risk index" (RRI) corresponds to the number of unfavourable criteria (0, 1, or 2) that a given patient matches.

The RRI value was 2 in four patients, comprising three patients who required complementary treatment for refractory HL (two patients relapsed after 1 and 5 months) and one patient who relapsed after 10 months. Thus, the predictive value for an unfavourable outcome was 100%.

The RRI value was 1 in 13 patients, including two patients who required complementary treatment for refractory HL and four patients who relapsed after 6 (n = 2), 25 (n = 1), and 50 (n = 1) months.

The RRI value was 0 in 13 patients. None of the patients required complementary treatment for refractory HL. Two patients relapsed after 7 and 24 months.

Kaplan–Meier analysis revealed a significant difference in RFS according to the RRI (p = 0.005). The hazards ratios were 2.01 (95% confidence interval [CI] = 0.54–8.0) and 10.3 (CI = 0.72–147) for RRI of 1 and 2, respectively, considering an RRI of 0 as the reference. In contrast, no significant difference was observed in RFS according to the DS (p = 0.5), whose predictive values were superior to those of the EuroNet-PHL-C1 criteria. (Figure 5) (Figure 6)



Figure 5. Kaplan-Meyer plot of the relapse-free survival (RFS) rate. RFS is plotted according to the value of "relapse risk index" (RRI) based on the evolution of diffuse FDG uptake in the liver and in the spinal cord at Th12 between bPET and iPET [25].



Figure 6. A 16-year-old girl participating in the pilot study with diagnosis of HL, initial stage IVBb. Baseline PET (a) and interim PET (b) images (maximal intensity pixel (MIP) visualisation, transversal PET and PET/CT slices at the level of Th12). BAT was not visualised on bPET or iPET. Incomplete metabolic response was on iPET. SUVmax of the lower pole of the liver decreased by 5 % (from 2.1 to 2) and SUVmax of spinal cord at the level of Th12 increased by 18 % (from 1.7 to 2). The "relapse risk index" was RRI=2, highest value. HL relapse was observed 5 months after the end of treatment [25].

IV.2. Results of the validation study of non-tumour-specific FDG uptake in children with Hodgkin lymphoma

IV.2.1. Presence of diffuse FDG uptake and the evolution of its intensity

Brown adipose tissue (BAT)

Activation of BAT was observed at bPET and iPET images in 12% and 20% of patients, respectively. Activation of BAT was observed on bPET and iPET in 7 patients, disappeared on iPET in 6 patients and appeared in 15.

Other sites

Focal or inhomogeneous uptake on bPET and/or iPET was observed in the spleen in 18 cases and the spinal cord at Th12 in 13 cases, which was considered evocative of HL invasion. Furthermore, it was not possible to evaluate FDG uptake by the thymus or to exclude its invasion by HL owing to focal uptake or heterogeneous uptake on bPET in 81 patients. As the activation of thymus was less frequent and intense on iPET, the thymus uptake was considered to be homogeneous more frequently after treatment.

Diffuse uptake visually quoted as 3 and considered "intense" (i.e., more intense than liver uptake) on bPET was observed at a similar frequency in the spleen (42%), bone marrow (44%), and thymus when the aspect was not evocative of HL invasion (45%). The frequency of hyperactivation was considerably reduced in these organs on iPET. The frequency of hyperactivation in the spinal cord at Th12 was lesser on bPET (31%); however, this status persisted on iPET more frequently (17%) compared with other sites. At least one site exhibited diffuse and intense uptake on bPET in the majority of patients (72%), but persisted on iPET in a minority of patients (27%) (Table 7).

Table 7. Validation study. Detection of sites of non-tumour-specific FDG uptake visually more intense than that of the liver uptake (quoted 3 according to the visual scale)

* The denominator of <112 takes into account that some of these sites were considered to have been invaded by HL or could not be evaluated owing to the neighbouring HL bulk. Therefore, they were excluded from the visual analysis of "non-specific" uptake for bPET and iPET.

	Baseline PET/CT (bPET)	Interim PET/CT (iPET) (McNemar test)
Brown adipose tissue (BAT) activation	13/112 = 12%	22/112 = 20% (p = 0.08 NS)
Diffuse thymus hyperactivity *	13/29 = 45%	1/29 = 3% (p < 0.0005)
Diffuse bone marrow hyperactivity in iliac crests *	48/109 = 44%	2/109 = 2% (p < 0.0001)
Diffuse spleen hyperactivity *	38/94 = 42%	12/94 = 13% (p = 0.0001)
Spinal cord non- nodular hyperactivity at Th12 *	31/99 = 31%	17/99 = 17% (p = 0.02)
Hyperactivity at least one site (except BAT)	81/112 = 72%	30/112 = 27% (p < 0.0001)

Quantitative analysis revealed that treatment induced a significant overall decrease in the SUVmax in three sites without invasion (thymus, bone marrow of the iliac crests, and spleen) (all p < 0.001), but not in the spinal cord at Th12 (Table 8). In contrast, the FDG uptake by the liver exhibited a significant overall increase after two cycles of treatment (p < 0.001) in 85% (93/110) of cases.

Table 8. Validation study. FDG SUVmax (median value [range]) at baseline(bPET) and after two cycles of chemotherapy (iPET) at sites without tumourinvasion. Variation between bPET and iPET

	Baseline PET/CT SUVmax: median value [range]	Interim PET/CT SUVmax: median value [range] (Wilcoxon's test for paired values)	Variation between bPET and iPET: increase decrease
Thymus	1.35 [0.9,4.5]	0.7 [0.7,2.7]	Increase $(n = 2)$
(non-invaded)		(p < 0.001)	Decrease $(n = 17)$
Bone marrow in iliac crests (non-invaded)	1.9 [0.7,10.7]	1.5 [0.7,4.1] (p < 0.001)	Increase $(n = 21)$ Decrease $(n = 79)$
Spleen	2.1 [1.0,7.6]	1.8 [0.7,4.1]	Increase $(n = 24)$
(non-invaded)		(p < 0.001)	Decrease $(n = 64)$
Spinal cord at Th12 (non-invaded)	1.7 [0.9,3.2]	1.8 [0.8,4.1] (p = 0.06 NS)	Increase $(n = 50)$ Decrease $(n = 40)$
Liver	1.95 [1.0,3.8]	2.3 [1.2,2.9]	Increase $(n = 93)$
(non-invaded)		(p < 0.001)	Decrease $(n = 17)$

IV.2.2. Relation between diffuse uptake and metabolic response of the tumour

Table 9 illustrates the significant positive correlations between maxSUVmax of HL and the SUVmax of the sites without invasion before treatment. The volumic approach (TMTV and TLG) revealed no significant correlation with the SUVmax of the spinal cord and liver. A strong correlation was observed between bPET TMTV and TLG, but not with maxSUVmax (TMTV: r = 0.08 and p = 0.4; TLG: r = 0.29 and p = 0.004). Strong correlations between the SUVmax of the four sites without tumour invasion were observed on bPET and iPET, except for the spleen and spinal cord at Th12 on bPET (r = -0.05). The greatest correlations coefficients were observed between the bone

marrow and spleen on bPET (r = 0.78) and iPET (r = 0.67) and between the liver and spleen on bPET (r = 0.77) and iPET (r = 0.41).

	Baseline HL maxSUVmax	Baseline HL TMTV	Baseline HL TLG
	Median value [range]	Median value [range]	Median value [range]
	11.7 [4.3–33.6]	182 [8.4–1254]	811 [29–8920]
	Pearson's correlation coefficient (significance vs. 0)	Pearson's correlation coefficient (significance vs. 0)	Pearson's correlation coefficient (significance vs. 0)
Bone marrow in iliac crests (non-invaded) SUV max	0.41 (p < 0.001)	0.20 (p < 0.03)	0.28 (p < 0.003)
Spleen (non-invaded) SUVmax	0.38 (p < 0.0002)	0.31 (p < 0.003)	0.34 (p < 0.001)
Spinal cord at Th12 (non-invaded) SUVmax	0.47 (p < 0.001)	-0.03 (p = 0.7 NS)	0.06 (p = 0.5 NS)
Liver (non-invaded) SUVmax	0.41 (p < 0.001)	-0.12 (p = 0.22 NS)	-0.02 (p = 0.9 NS)

Table 9. Validation study. FDG uptake by HL on bPET and its correlation withthe uptake at the sites without tumour invasion

IV.2.3. Prediction of complete metabolic response

Univariate analysis

Univariate analysis revealed a significant difference according to the Deauville fivepoint score (iPET) for bPET results on HL: maxSUVmax (p = 0.007), TMTV (p = 0.009), and TLG (p < 0.001). These bPET values were highest in the four patients with a subsequent DS of 5.

In contrast, no such significant difference according to the Deauville five-point score was observed in the SUVmax of any site without tumour invasion on bPET.

ROC analysis and logistic regression was performed by reducing the DS to two levels, "complete metabolic response" or "non-complete metabolic response."

As described in the study by Isik et al. [44], a "conservative" interpretation considering was tested, as in our pilot study: a DS of \leq 3 was considered non-indicative of relapse, whereas a "sensitive" interpretation considering a DS of \geq 3 was considered indicative of relapse.

The presence of CR according to Deauville interpretation was selected as the classification variable in the ROC analysis. The thymus SUVmax was not analysed as the number of patients with thymus that did not exhibit invasion was low.

Table 10 indicates that the patients whose iPET images were likely to correspond to an inadequate response can be delineated using the FDG uptake by HL on bPET (best with TLG, significant with TMTV, and borderline with maxSUVmax), as well as the SUVmax of the spinal cord at Th12 or the spleen without invasion on iPET.

Table 10. ROC analysis of the potential predictors of CR on iPET after two cycles of treatment determined according to the Deauville criteria.
Variables and results in bold correspond to a significant rejection (p < 0.05) of the null hypothesis (area under the ROC curve = 0.5).

	Area under the ROC curve to predict CR on iPET, "conservative" interpretation (Deauville 3 = CR)	Area under the ROC curve to predict CR on iPET, "sensitive" interpretation (Deauville 3 = no CR)
Bone marrow in iliac crests (non-invaded) SUVmax on bPET	0.53	0.58
Bone marrow in iliac crests (non-invaded) SUVmax on iPET	0.61	0.57
Bone marrow in iliac crests (non-invaded) iPET - bPET	0.52	0.56
Spleen (non-invaded) SUVmax on bPET	0.54	0.51
Spleen (non-invaded) SUVmax on iPET	0.65	0.64
Spleen (non-invaded) iPET - bPET	0.59	0.64
Spinal cord at Th12 (non-invaded) SUVmax on bPET	0.55	0.57
Spinal cord at Th12 (non-invaded) SUVmax on iPET	0.67	0.64
Spinal cord at Th12 (non-invaded) iPET-bPET	0.61	0.61
Liver (non-invaded) SUVmax on bPET	0.52	0.53

Liver (non-invaded) SUVmax on iPET	0.52	0.57
Liver (non-invaded) iPET-bPET	0.51	0.53
HL maxSUVmax on bPET	0.60	0.62
HL total metabolic tumour volume (TMTV) on bPET	0.69	0.66
HL total lesion glycolysis (TLG) on bPET	0.71	0.70

Multivariate analysis

Stepwise logistic regression was performed with the dependent variable CR selected according to "conservative" or "sensitive" interpretation of the Deauville score, a combination of all quantitative variables set to predict CR.

The TLG on bPET (p < 0.01) and variation in the spinal cord uptake on Th12 (p = 0.05) were significant contributors for predicting CR according to the "conservative" interpretation of the Deauville score. The area under the ROC curve increased from 0.71 to 0.72 on combining the variation in the spinal cord uptake (iPET – bPET) on Th12 with the TLG on bPET.

Only TLG on bPET was identified as the single significant contributor for the prediction of CR according to the "sensitive" interpretation of the Deauville score.

IV.3. Results of the "BAT on bPET" studies

The frequency of BAT visualisation on FDG PET/CT at the time of the diagnosis was 19% (25/135; 95% confidence interval [CI] = 12–25%) in the first study that analysed BAT on bPET involving 135 paediatric patients.

Analysis of the patients based on whether FDG uptake by BAT was visible revealed no significant difference in terms of age; outside temperature on the day of PET/CT acquisition; SUVmax of the liver, the spleen, the spinal cord at Th12, and the bone marrow in the iliac crest; and maxSUVmax of the HL lesions (Table 11).

A trend toward lower values for TMTV and TLG was observed in the HL lesions of cases with visible FDG uptake by BAT; however, the result did not reach statistical significance (p = 0.07 and 0.06 respectively).

The prevalence of BAT visualisation did not differ between boys (15/62; 24%) and girls (10/73; 14%) according to a class of age, in particular, 13–14.9 years (Table 12).

The frequency of BAT visualisation on bPET was 23.9% (22/92; CI: 15.2–32.6%) in the study involving 92 patients from Hungary. Signs of BAT activation were observed in 19% (12/63) and 34.4% (10/29) of patients with HL and sarcoma, respectively. Fisher's exact test performed to determine the prevalence of BAT activation in patients with HL compare with that in patients with sarcoma revealed no significant difference (p = 0.12).

Table 11. Results of quantitative variables according to whether BAT wasvisualised on FDG PET/CT at baseline (study with 135 patients).

Potential	NO FDG uptake by	POSITIVE FDG	р	
determinant	BAT, n = 110	uptake by BAT, n = 25	(Mann-	
	Median, range	Median, range	Whitney	
			test)	
Age (years)	14.2, 4.5–17.9	14.9, 7.0–17.3	0.51	
Outside	Min = 10.2 6.4 to 22.2	Min = 6.2 + 0.5 to 17.9	0.22	
temperature on	MIII = 10.2, -0.4 to 25.5	Min = 0.3, -0.5 to 1/.8	0.22	
the day of FDG	Max = 17.4, 1.0-35.0	Max = 14.0, 6.1 - 30.9	0.30	
· PET/CT (°C)	Mean = 13.9, -2.1-29.2	Mean = 9.7, 2.9-24.0	0.28	
Liver SUVmax	1.9, 1.0–3.8	2.1, 1.4–2.8	0.44	
Spinal cord at	170932	101120	0.17	
Th12 SUVmax	1.7, 0.9–3.2	1.9, 1.1–2.9	0.17	
Bone marrow				
at iliac crest	1.9, 0.7–10.7	2.0, 0.7–4.5	0.65	
SUVmax				
HL lesions	11 2 4 2 22 6	11 1 5 5 21 1	0.61	
maxSUVmax	11.5, 4.5–55.0	11.1, 5.5–21.1	0.01	
HL lesions	182 127 1250	110 8 / 80/	0.07	
TMTV (mL)	162, 12.7–1230	119, 0.4–094	0.07	
HL lesions	782 20 0 8020	502 25 5 4270	0.06	
TLG (g)	/02,29.0-8920	302, 33.3-4370	0.00	

Table 12. Prevalence of BAT visualisation on baseline FDG PET/CT imagesaccording to sex and age (study with 135 patients).

Potential	NO FDG uptake by	POSITIVE FDG	р
determinant	BAT , n = 110	uptake by BAT, n = 25	(chi-square
			test)
Sex	Boys: $n = 47$	Boys: n = 15 (24%)	0.10
	Girls: $n = 63$	Girls: n = 10 (14%)	0.18
Age (years)	< 13: n = 38	< 13: n = 8 (21%)	
	13–14.9: n = 34	13–14.9: n = 6 (17%)	0.65
	\geq 15: n = 38	≥ 15: n = 11 (29%)	

For TMTV and TLG of the malignant tissue, the Mann–Whitney test revealed no significant association between BAT activation in the group that included paediatric patients with HL and sarcoma. However, analysing the subgroup of patients with HL revealed a trend towards significancy for TMTV (p = 0.06) and TLG (p = 0.09) (Table 13). Analysis of the connection between BAT activation and the TMTV and TLG values revealed a difference between the HL and sarcoma subgroups. The TMTV and TLG values of the patients with HL exhibiting BAT activation were lower than those of the patients not exhibiting BAT activation. The TMTV and TLG values of the patients not exhibiting BAT activation were higher than those of the patients not exhibiting BAT activation were higher than those of the patients not exhibiting BAT activation. However, the Mann–Whitney test revealed no significant association between the TMTV and TLG values and BAT activation in the sarcoma subgroup. This could be attributed to the limited number of patients with sarcoma.

Logistic regression did not reveal the aforementioned trends for TMTV and TLG in any group; however, a significant correlation was observed between the age of the patient

and BAT activation in the HL subgroup (p = 0.04); a near significant correlation was observed in the whole group (p = 0.06).

Analysing the frequency of BAT activation on PET/CT images according to the season revealed that 45% (10/22) of the PET/CT examinations depicting signs of BAT activation were performed in autumn. Furthermore, 38% (10/26) of the total number of PET/CT examinations with signs of BAT were conducted in autumn. The logistic regression model revealed a significant inverse relation between the seasons of winter and autumn (reference) for FDG uptake by BAT in the whole group (Log. Odds -2.13; p = 0.02). A near significant trend was observed in the subgroup of patients with HL (Log. Odds -2.45; p = 0.08).

The prevalence of BAT visualisation in this study did not differ between boys and girls in the whole group (boys: 10/48 [20%] and girls: 12/44 [27%]; p = 0.63) or in the subgroups of HL (boys: 4/31 [13%] and girls: 8/32 [25%]; p = 0.36) or sarcoma (boys: 6/17 [35%] and girls: 4/12 [33%]; p = 1) (Table 14).

Table 13. Results of quantitative variables according to whether BAT was visualised on FDG PET/CT at baseline in the HL and sarcoma subgroups

	NO FDG	POSITIVE	р	NO	POSITIVE	р
	uptake by BAT Hodgkin	FDG uptake by BAT	(Mann– Whitney test)	FDG uptake by BAT	FDG uptake by BAT	(Mann– Whitney test)
	lymphom a (n = 51) Median; mean; range	Hodgkin lymphoma (n = 12) Median; mean; range	Hodgkin lymphoma (n = 63)	Sarcoma (n = 19) Median; mean; range	Sarcoma (n = 10) Median; mean; range	Sarcoma (n = 29)
Age (years)	14; 12.58; 3–17	15; 14; 8– 17	0.37	14; 12.53; 7– 17	13; 12.9; 9– 16	0.98
Outside temperature (C°), mean	17; 18.23; 1–35	19.5; 17.33; 1–35	0.75	13; 14.84; -1 to 34	13; 11.9; 0– 28	0.59
TMTV (cm ³) of the tumour lesions	268.66; 384.32; 1.44– 1787.64	82.3; 166.58; 0–547.21	0.06	99.76; 180.19; 7–984.12	156.9; 263.89; 4.31–987.29	0.37

(study with 92 patients)

TLG (g) of	1111.33;	279.97;	0.09	425.86;	1033.41;	0.24
the tumour	1765.08;	760.24;		799.23;	1352.87;	
lesions	4.07– 8636.79	0–2356.22		30.27– 3888.61	12.92– 4539.97	

 Table 14. Prevalence of BAT visualisation on FDG PET/CT according to sex

	POSITIVE	р	POSITIVE	р	POSITIVE	р
	FDG uptake by BAT (Whole group)	(Fisher's exact test) (Whole group)	FDG uptake by BAT (Hodgkin lymphoma)	(Fisher's exact test) (Hodgkin lymphoma)	FDG uptake by BAT (Sarcoma)	(Fisher's exact test) (Sarcoma)
Sex	Boys: n =10 Girls: n =12	0.63	Boys: $n = 4$ Girls: $n = 8$	0.33	Boys: $n = 6$ Girls: $n = 4$	1

(study with 92 patients)

V. Discussion

V.1. Discussion of the pilot study on non-tumour-specific FDG uptake in children with Hodgkin lymphoma

The results of this pilot ancillary study were published in 2016 [25] in the *European Journal of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging*. This study has been cited in six articles [37, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48] and one letter to the Editor [49].

V.1.1. Prevalence of non-tumour-specific FDG uptakes

Non-tumour-specific FDG uptake by structures without tumour invasion is considered a potential pitfall during initial staging and during treatment. Diffuse and intense uptake on bPET was observed in at least one of the five evaluated areas without HL invasion in the majority of patients (77%). After 2 cycles of chemotherapy, on iPET, this ratio decreased (23%). Several studies addressed the frequency of this pattern of FDG uptake in patients with HL. The pilot study was referenced by Escudier et al. [45] who reported three cases of Kikuchi-Fujimoto disease, also known as histiocytic necrotising lymphadenitis, a rare cause of lymphadenopathy in children. Kikuchi-Fujimoto disease is a benign disease that mimics lymphoma. All three patients included in the study by Escudier were teenagers who presented with isolated lymphadenopathy or lymphadenopathy accompanied by fever, weakness, and weight loss. The hypermetabolic activity of the lymph node on FDG PET/CT led to the suspicion of lymphoma in all three patients; however, a non-specific FDG uptake was not observed in other organs. This pattern was noted in only 33% of patients with HL in our pilot study. The diagnosis of Kikuchi disease was made for all patients based on the findings of lymph node biopsy.

Brown adipose tissue

Gilsanz et al. [32] studied FDG uptake by BAT in 21 children with HL (median age = 14) and reported that the frequency of visible FDG uptake by BAT was 13% (3/21) and 86% (18/21) at baseline and during the follow-up period, respectively, when no evidence of disease was observed on PET/CT. BAT activation was observed in two (7%) and five (17%) patients on bPET and iPET, respectively, in the present study. All patients had achieved CR. A definite lower frequency of BAT visualisation on iPET, which was performed after administering only two cycles of chemotherapy, was observed in the present study compared with that reported in the study by Gilsanz et al. [32]. The duration of treatment was not specified in the study by Gilsanz et al. [32]; however, it is anticipated to be longer, considering the patients exhibited no evidence of disease. Nevertheless, the findings of the study by Gilsanz et al. [32], i.e., BAT visualisation with FDG exhibited an inverse correlation with the presence of active HL, are consistent with those of the present series. Active HL should be reduced at iPET. FDG uptake by BAT on bPET and iPET was not predictive of the persistence of CR in the present study, given that two patients with this pattern experienced early relapse.

Brendle et al. [37] who studied BAT in patients with lymphoma using FDG PET, reported that HL exhibited the highest frequency of BAT visualisation, with 21 and 15 of the 206 cases exhibiting low and high uptake, respectively. Lymphoma was considered active if vital manifestations with FDG uptake above the mean liver uptake were detected. No association between BAT and the metabolic activity of lymphoma was observed.

This discrepancy prompted further analysis of the context of BAT activation in a larger series of children and adolescents with HL. The "BAT on bPET" study is summarised in Chapter V.3. Discussion of the "BAT on bPET" studies.

Bone marrow

Salaun et al. [30] evaluated the significance of diffuse bone marrow FDG uptake in 106 patients with HL (median age = 31) who underwent FDG PET/CT imaging for initial staging. The iPET examination was not studied in their work. Comparison between the

results of this series and the bPET results of the present study revealed a difference in terms of the age range of the patients, i.e., adults constituted the majority of the participants in the study by Salaun et al. [30]. Bone marrow uptake was higher than liver uptake in 58% of patients in their study. In contrast, diffuse bone marrow hyperactivity in the iliac crests was observed in 37% of patients on bPET in the present study. The lower frequency observed in the present study (difference close to significance [p = 0.06 using Fisher's test]) could be attributed to the fact that we did not considered this phenomenon at the whole-body level, unlike in the study by Salaun et al. [30]. Furthermore, we used the criteria to exclude if the bone marrow was invaded by HL. In contrast, bone marrow invasion of HL, leading to a specific FDG uptake, was observed in 7% of patients in the study by Salaun et al. [30].

Spleen

Splenic uptake was higher than liver uptake in 25% of patients in the study by Salaun et al. [30]. In contrast, splenic uptake was higher than liver uptake in 45% of patients on bPET in the present study (p = 0.04). In addition to the younger age of the patients included in the present study, the higher frequency of intense spleen uptake observed in the present study can be attributed to more frequent diffuse HL involvement of the spleen that was missed.

Thymus

The evaluation of thymic uptake was hindered by the following issues:

- Data regarding the FDG uptake by non-pathologic thymus before the age of 18 years and the potential age dependence of the uptake of the thymus were incomplete [50]. Thus, differentiating diffuse non-tumour-specific activation from diffuse HL invasion is difficult.

- "Thymus rebound" increases the thymus FDG uptake after treatment; however, it may increase this uptake during the course of chemotherapy (iPET) in patients who achieved CR [28].

Patel et al. [51] reported a mean mediastinal SUV of 1.47 in 14 children and concluded that a mediastinal SUV of > 2.5 is suggestive of the onset of a malignant process. Notably, SUVmax, rather than SUVmean, was determined in subsequent studies, even when the term SUV was used in the results sections. Brink et al. [52] reported a mean SUVmax of 1.84 ± 0.68 in 11 children with malignant disease before chemotherapy (group Ia, mean age \pm SD, 11.9 ± 3.7 year). Jerushalmi et al. [53] revealed a higher mean thymic SUVmax (3.8 ± 0.5) before treatment in 10 patients aged < 40 years. Gawande et al. [54] reported a mean SUVmax value of 2.00 ± 0.83 for the non-invaded thymus in seven paediatric patients with lymphoma before chemotherapy. In contrast, the mean SUVmax value was 2.89 ± 0.1 for rebound thymus in 33 children and $4.74 \pm$ 0.61 in 34 children with recurrence. They concluded that SUVmax of the thymus is a sensitive factor for differentiating normal thymus or thymic rebound from mediastinal lymphoma, as predicted by a thymus SUVmax of ≥ 3.4 .

Additional data of 22 children aged 3–10 years (mean age, 6.1 years; median age, 6 years; nine children aged 3–5 years) were acquired by Gawande et al. [54] to further evaluate their finding of age-independent thymic SUVmax. A mean thymic SUVmax of 1.8 ± 0.54 (median, 1.75; range, 0.8–2.9) was achieved in their study. The SUVmax was < 3 in the present study; therefore, it was also< 3.4 from the data of 19/30 patients whose thymus was considered to be HL-free on bPET in the present study. The SUVmax of the thymus was significantly lower on iPET, at < 1.7 in 22/30 patients considered as having thymus without HL invasion. The criteria for probable HL invasion requiring a focal uptake used in the present study indicates that no thymic rebound was observed in these patients immediately after two cycles of chemotherapy. Data regarding the frequency and intensity of thymic rebound on FDG PET after two chemotherapy cycles could not be retrieved; only post-treatment data were available.

Spinal cord

FDG uptake by the spinal cord in adults without cancer has been explored for over a decade [55]. The spinal cord FDG uptake in adult patients with cancer have also been

explored [56, 57]. For instance, Amin et al. conducted a study involving 101 patients, including 25 patients with lymphoma [57].

McCarville et al. conducted a study involving 128 children [58], including 58 patients with HL, and reported that the highest FDG SUVmax values were observed at the midcervical and lower thoracic levels. However, patients with spinal disease were excluded from their study. The median SUVmax at Th12 was > 1.5 in the groups comprising patients aged > 10 years. Taralli et al. [59] evaluated the FDG uptake of nonpathological spinal cord in 62 children with HL. The mean SUVmax values for C1–C7, Th1–Th6, and Th7–L1 were 1.90, 1.55, and 1.80, respectively. The median SUVmax value of patients with HL was higher than those the patients with NHL or other diseases. The FDG uptake in the lower thoracic region of the cord was higher than that in the upper part of the thoracic spinal cord in these studies involving patients with cancer. Therefore, the FDG uptake by the spinal cord at the Th12 level was quantified in the present study. The SUVmax value on bPET was 1.7 in the 30 children with HL, which is consistent with the findings of the study by Taralli et al. [59].

Kiamanesh et al. [46] also referenced the pilot study as one of the 13 studies involving a total of 24,125 patients included in their systematic review of the physiologic distribution of FDG in the spinal cord. The cumulative results confirmed that the FDG uptake was highest in the lower thoracic portion of spinal cord (Th11–Th12). They concluded that on 18F-FDG PET/CT imaging, focal hypermetabolism of the spinal cord at the level of lower thoracic and lower cervical vertebrae should be considered physiological until proven otherwise. Several explanations were presented as the cause of physiological 18F-FDG uptake variations in the spinal cord:

- Hypermetabolism of the cervical enlargement in spinal cord segments C6-C8 (correspond to the C3-T2 vertebral body levels) and the lumbar enlargement in spinal cord segments L4-S1 (correspond to the T9-T12 vertebral body levels), which are responsible for supplying the neuronal activity of the upper and lower limbs.

- White matter does not accumulate 18F-FDG in comparison with the gray matter. Therefore, it can be concluded that abundant amount of gray matter in the spinal cord enlargements at the C4-C8 and L4-S1 vertebral levels, involving in neuronal transmission for upper and lower extremities, could be responsible for the relative hyperactivity.

- Sensory stimuli (e.g. tactile or thermal) from the extremities to the spinal cord can be the reason of regional hypermetabolism.

- Inadequate clearance of 18F-FDG from the Adamkiewicz artery (largest medullary segmental artery originated from aorta around the T9 to T11 thoracic vertebrae on the left side) is another explained mechanism.

- Technical limitations like partial volume effect are another proposed mechanism that may be a cause of underestimation of SUVmax in spinal segments except for cervical and lumbar enlargements.

V.1.2. Evolution of diffuse uptake with chemotherapy

To the best of our knowledge, no previous study has investigated the evolution of diffuse and intense FDG uptake in children with HL following chemotherapy. Vera et al. [60] conducted a study involving adult patients with lymphoma, including 17 patients with HL and 33 patients with NHL and reported the findings after a median of three cycles of chemotherapy.

Consistent with the findings of the present study, the average SUVmax increased in the liver (+33%) and decreased in the spleen (-8%). However, the absolute values of the average baseline SUVmax were far greater than those observed in the present series: 2.69 for the liver (p < 0.001; 1.7 in our series) and 2.58 for the spleen (p < 0.01; 1.8 in our series). This difference could be attributed to the differences between the ages of the patients as well as the greater proportion of patients with NHL in the study by Vera et al. [60]. Diffuse uptake exhibited a more marked reduction in the spleen after two cycles of chemotherapy in the present study, in addition to that observed in the thymus and bone marrow. A reduction in the number of cases wherein these organs appeared more active than the liver was also observed. Furthermore, a significant reduction in their

SUVmax was observed. Thus, this finding cannot be attributed solely to the rise in the intensity of FDG uptake by the liver, the reference organ for visual interpretation. The reduction in the diffuse uptake in these organs may be attributed to the response of HL to therapy. The criteria set forth by De Jong et al. [31] indicated that this evolution during chemotherapy suggests that the spleen and/or the other organs are diffusely invaded by HL. At least two other underlying mechanisms have been identified. The first underlying mechanism is the reduction in the non-specific stimulation of glucose metabolism of organs without invasion by HL, since HL responds to treatment. The baseline FDG SUVmax of these organs in healthy children has not been reported owing to the radiation exposure linked with FDG PET. The values observed on bPET may be normal and not enhanced. Thus, a reduction on iPET from this normal baseline value would indicate a decline in the glucose metabolism of the organs without invasion as a consequence of chemotherapy toxicity.

A major result of the present study is the significant increase in the liver uptake of children with HL after two cycles of chemotherapy. Vera et al. [60], who reported a significant increase in average liver SUVmax in adults with HL or NHL who received treatment, could provide "no explanation" for this phenomenon.

The liver is used as a reference organ for interpreting the response exhibited by patients with HL after receiving two cycles of chemotherapy according to the Deauville criteria [61, 62] or at the end of first-line treatment [63]. Thus, a rise in the liver uptake from its baseline value may lead to an underestimation of the actual response of the HL lesions on iPET/CT. Consistent with this hypothesis, a previous study confirmed that the difference between the SUVmax on bPET and iPET was a better criterion than the visual Deauville criteria for identifying adult patients with large B cell lymphoma [64]. The study by Marko et al. [47], which evaluated the diagnostic and therapeutic management of patients with malignant uveal melanoma, mentioned our pilot study in connection with the evaluation of reaction to chemotherapy and radiotherapy and the differentiation of benign and malignant lesions.

V.1.3. Ability of diffuse FDG uptake to predict refractory or relapsing Hodgkin lymphoma

A lack of increase in the liver SUVmax of bPET and iPET was identified as a predictor of refractory HL necessitating further treatment at the end of scheduled initial therapy to achieve CR. The predictive values of this criterion were at least as good as those of the criteria based on the visual scoring of the FDG uptake by the target HL lesions (EuroNet-PHL-C1 or Deauville criteria). However, the decisions made after two cycles of OEPA for the management of the patients were based on morphologic and metabolic response. Thus, the management was adjusted when the EuroNet-PHL-C1 predicting responses were not met. The results of the metabolic approach were considered falsepositive for predicting refractory HL if the patient responded to the initial treatment. True-positive values may have been achieved if refractory HL would have been observed without this adjustment of the management.

An increase of > 5% in the SUVmax of the spinal cord at Th12 after two cycles of chemotherapy was another criterion for predicting an unfavourable patient outcome.

All four patients who satisfied the two criteria exhibited an unfavourable outcome (initially refractory HL or relapse within 12 months). A significant difference was observed between this group of patients and those who matched one or no criteria in terms of RFS. However, no significant value for predicting the patient outcome could be derived from the EuroNet-PHL-C1 or Deauville criteria in this study. A possible explanation for the observed phenomena can be related to the therapy. Increase of FDG uptake by the liver on iPET after 2 cycles of chemotherapy would indicate the increase of the glucose metabolism of liver cells, to be able to handle the consequence of chemotherapy toxicity. The adequate metabolic response for toxic agents can be missing in case of lack of such an increase in FDG uptake by the liver. This can reflect a general immunological or metabolic constitutional weakness that can be connected even to the inadequate elimination of the cancer cells from the system, becoming even a possible cause for refractory HL.

Ibrahim et al. [48] compared the performance of SUVmax reduction (Δ SUVmax%) with that of Deauville score (DS) by assessing the response to chemotherapy in paediatric patients with HL who underwent ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT imaging. Fifty-two patients with the diagnosis of HL confirmed through biopsy (age 8–16 years) with baseline, interim (after the second or third round of chemotherapy), and post-therapy (upon completion of first-line chemotherapy) ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT images available were enrolled. The interim and post-therapy DS and Δ SUVmax% were compared as response predictors. This comparison revealed that DS can predict chemotherapy response better than Δ SUVmax% in paediatric patients with HL.

Isik et al. [44] cited our approach in their study comparing different methods of FDG PET/CT interpretation for predicting paediatric HL outcome; however, only the "classical" approach based on FDG uptake by HL lesions was evaluated. The baseline, interim, and post-treatment PET images of 72 children were interpreted according to the revised International Harmonization Project criteria (IHP) and Deauville criteria. The Deauville criteria for the interim FDG PET/CT, i.e., a score of 3 indicates risk of relapse, predicted relapse within 3 years with Se, Sp, NPV, and PPV of 80%, 64%, 97%, and 17%, respectively. A "conservative" interpretation considering a DS of 3 as non-indicative of relapse achieved Se, Sp, NPV, and PPV of 29%, 78%, 89%, and 17%, respectively. A direct comparison with the findings of the "conservative" Deauville criteria reported by the present study can only be indicative as only the performance of predicting relapse within one year of completing CR was considered. The Se, Sp, NPV, and PPV were 17%, 83%, 83%, and 20%, respectively. The findings of both studies were concordant. The approach used in the present study suggests that an increase of > +5% in the spinal cord uptake at Th12 on bPET and iPET was indicative of a higher risk of relapse. This cutoff value achieved Se, Sp, NPV, and PPV of 83%, 71%, 94%, and 42%, respectively, for predicting relapse within 1 year. Isik et al. [44] concluded that all methods based on FDG uptake in the HL lesions demonstrated high NPV but substantially low PPV. The Deauville criteria exhibited a superior ability to predict HL outcomes in paediatric patients using interim FDG PET/CT data. However, quantitative evaluation and visual evaluation by IHP can be used reliably only at the end of the

treatment. This result reinforces the decision to consider the Deauville criteria as the comparator to the proposed approach to derive a predictive value from interim FDG PET/CT.

V.1.4. Limitations of the pilot study

The main limitations of the pilot study include its retrospective nature and the limited number of patients with resistant disease (n = 5) and recurrence within 12 months (n = 6) or during the overall follow-up period (n = 9). Furthermore, recruiting a large number of children with HL is difficult and the current therapy is very effective (only a low number of recurrences being reported during the follow-up period).

A consequence of the retrospective nature of this study is that the delay between FDG injection and image acquisition was not strictly controlled. Only relative variations of SUVmax on bPET and iPET were effective in predicting resistance or recurrence of HL. Therefore, the delay between FDG injection and image acquisition comparing bPET and iPET in each patient being close to zero was considered important. This requirement was satisfied in the majority of cases; however, the delay was > 30 min in five patients, resulting in an increased uncertainty in the paired determination of SUVmax.

A consequence of the limited number of patients and the difference in imaging timing for some patients is that the cutoff values determined for the two elements of the RRI proposed using the ROC analysis has an uncertainty. In particular, the +5% cutoff value for the SUVmax of the spinal cord at Th12 may not differ significantly from that for 0%. Few values for the repeatability coefficient of SUVmax determination published in a different neoplasia are > 5% [65]. Therefore, a "grey zone" between at least 0 and +10% for this criterion must be considered from the preliminary data.

V.2. Discussion of the validation study on non-tumour-specific FDG uptake in children with Hodgkin lymphoma

Similarly with the pilot study but in a larger series of children with HL, we evaluated the frequency and intensity of visually diffuse FDG uptake by BAT and by the four selected organs without tumour invasion, at bPET and on iPET. Results of the pilot study related to the prevalence of FDG uptake by sites without tumour invasion in paediatric patients with HL were confirmed by the validation study.

V.2.1. Comparison with the results from the pilot study

Tables 3, 7 and 8 (validation study) were compared with Tables 2, 5 and 6 (pilot study). The validation study confirmed the following results of the pilot study involving 30 patients in a completely different cohort of 112 patients:

- The median age was similar (ca. 14 years), and similar to that in the published series.

- The male-to-female ratio (0.7 vs 1.0, p = 0.5) and the non-CR:CR ratio on iPET according to the "conservative" interpretation of the Deauville score (0.38 vs. 0.20, p = 0.2) did not exhibit significant differences.

- Some increase in the proportion of children with **BAT** activation on iPET after two cycles of treatment was observed compared with that on bPET; however, the difference did not reach the significance level in a three-fold larger cohort.

- About overall non tumour invaded sites, FDG uptake visually greater than that of the liver was observed in at least one site without invasion in a large proportion of patients (72% and 77% in the validation and pilot studies, respectively). However, it declined dramatically after two cycles of treatment to 27% (validation study) and 23% (pilot study), respectively.

- In the case of **bone marrow and spleen**, a FDG uptake visually greater than that of the liver was observed in the bone marrow and spleen without invasion. The prevalence was significantly higher on bPET (approximately 40% in both studies). This uptake declined after two cycles of treatment according to the visual and quantified evaluations of FDG uptake (Figure 7).

Salaun et al. [30] evaluated 106 patients (median age = 31) with HL on bPET to evaluate diffuse bone marrow FDG uptake. The bone marrow FDG uptake was higher than the liver uptake in 58% of patients. In contrast, bone marrow FDG uptake was higher than the liver uptake in 44% of patients in the present study, and in 37% of patients in the pilot study. The lower frequency observed in our studies (in case of the validation study difference close to significance p = 0.07 using Fisher's test) could be attributed to this phenomenon not being considered at a whole-body level but only in the iliac crest, and we used criterion to exclude the cases where bone marrow was invaded by HL. Zwarthoed et al. [66] evaluated the pre-treatment FDG PET/CT images of 180 adult patients with HL and revealed focal lesions in the bone marrow (focal) of 38 (21%) patients, pure strong (> liver) diffuse uptake (diffuse) in 53 (29%) patients, and faint or absent (\leq liver) bone marrow uptake (negative) in 89 (48%) patients. The frequency of uptake greater than that of the liver among diffuse uptake was 37% (53/142) compared with 44% in the present study (p = 0.3). Bone marrow biopsy was positive for focal and diffuse PET lesions in 6/38 (16%) and 1/53 (2%) patients, respectively. Bone marrow biopsy was negative for PET bone marrow results in 5/89 (6%) patients. The 3-year PFS of patients exhibiting a pure diffuse PET bone marrow pattern was identical to that of patients without any ¹⁸F-FDG uptake (83% and 82%, respectively, p = 0.92). In contrast, the 3-year PFS of patients with focal PET bone marrow lesions was significantly inferior to that of patients with diffuse and negative PET (67% and 83%, respectively, p = 0.03). This study, which was published 2 years

after our pilot study, confirms the validity of the criterion used in the pilot and validation studies that considered nodal uptake in bone marrow as evocative of HL invasion.

The splenic uptake on bPET was higher than the liver uptake in 25% of patients in the study conducted by Salaun et al. [30]. In contrast, the splenic uptake on bPET was higher than the liver uptake in 44% of patients in the validation study (p = 0.02) and in 45% of patients in the pilot study (p = 0.04). In addition to the younger age of the patients included in the present study, the higher frequency of intense spleen uptake in the present series may be attributed to diffuse HL involvement of the spleen being missed more frequently.

Salaun et al. [30] reported that diffuse spleen uptake could reflect lymphoma infiltration. Moreover, it can reflect activation and proliferation of macrophages as observed following the administration of G-CSF or granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor injection [67]. This activation may be attributed to the inflammatory context of HL.

- A significant increase in the median SUVmax of the **liver** on bPET and iPET was observed in 85% of the cases in the validation study. Analysis with visual interpretation is not possible as the liver is used as the reference organ for predicting high FDG uptake at sites without invasion. The findings observed in the children included in our study are consistent with the those of the study by Chiaravalloti et al. [68] involving 68 adults with HL; the liver SUVmax on iPET (3.13 ± 0.67) was higher than those on bPET (2.82 ± 0.64 ; p < 0.0001) and PET after six cycles of therapy (2.96 ± 0.52 ; p = 0.01). Comparison between the SUVmax of the mediastinum on bPET, iPET, and PET after six cycles of therapy revealed no significant differences (p > 0.05). The findings of the present study confirms that the following conclusion drawn for adults by previous studies is applicable to the paediatric population: liver FDG uptake varies across patients with HL during the treatment and the disease course; thus, it should be interpreted with caution when used to define the response to therapy of HL on iPET.

- The variation between the FDG uptake by the **spinal cord** at Th12 on bPET and iPET were paradoxical, but similar in both studies: visual interpretation revealed a significant reduction on iPET, which is in contrast with the non-significant increase in the actual SUVmax observed on bPET and iPET. This finding can be attributed to the significant increase in liver SUVmax on iPET: visual comparison with the uptake of the liver, which increased in 85% of cases, will lead to the incorrect conclusion that the number of cases with hypermetabolism of this organ decreased if the uptake of an organ remains steady (or increases slightly). The postulated (but not actual) constancy of the liver SUVmax to its bPET value was simulated and determined the number of cases with FDG uptake on iPET which would be visually considered as greater than the liver bPET uptake were determined to confirm this hypothesis. The proportion of cases of hypermetabolic spinal cord at Th12 increased to 43% (43/99) from 17% (17/99). The McNemar test revealed a near significant increase in the proportion (p = 0.06) compared with that of bPET in 31/99 (31%) patients (instead of a significant decrease when the iPET liver value was the reference).



Figure 7: Comparison of FDG uptake variations of organs without tumour invasion between bPET and iPET. FDG uptake presented in SUVmax mean value, at baseline (bPET) examinations and after two cycles of treatment (iPET). 1. Results of the quantitative analysis in the pilot study 2. Results of the quantitative analysis in the validation study.

V.2.2. Correlation between the non-tumour-specific FDG uptakes and the metabolic activity of the Hodgkin lymphoma lesions

The correlation between the extent of HL lesions and the characteristics of glucose metabolism and glucose uptake at the sites without tumour invasion were not explored in our pilot study.

The validation study evaluated this correlation. The maximum SUVmax of all HL lesions were derived from a very limited volume of HL tissue that was likely to be the most metabolically active. The TMTV and the TLG, which integrate all visible HL tumours, were also determined. Cottereau et al. [42] reported that a high TMTV on baseline FDG PET/CT exhibited a significant association with poorer prognosis. TLG was also significantly predictive of PFS and OS in these patients, but less so than TMTV. A pilot study conducted by Tatci et al. involving 28 paediatric patients with HL [69] revealed that TMTV and several parameters derived from SUV were higher in patients with stage III–IV disease, bulky tumour, and involvement of ≥ 3 lymph node groups or the spleen. The TMTV in FDG bPET was validated as a major parameter for predicting inadequate response of HL in ERA performed after two cycles of induction chemotherapy. Rogasch et al. [70] conducted a study involving 50 paediatric patients with HL and revealed inadequate response in 28 children. TMTV best predicted an inadequate response among all PET parameters. The area under the ROC curve of MTV was 0.84 and 0.86 for stage I/II and stage III/IV HL, respectively. The Se, Sp, NPV, and PPV for predicting an inadequate response were 94%, 64%, 88%, and 79%, respectively, for stage I/II HL. The Se, Sp, NPV, and PPV for predicting an inadequate response were 75%, 91%, 77%, and 90%, respectively, for stage III/IV HL. The diagnostic performance of TLG was slightly worse than that of TMTV. The observation that the FDG uptake intensity in HL lesions (SUV approach) is less relevant than the anatomical distribution or volumetric extent of the lesions may be attributed to the multifocal/systemic nature of HL, in contrast to other childhood malignancies such as Ewing's sarcoma or osteosarcoma (wherein the pre-treatment maxSUVmax is a prognostic factor).

The Deauville score was also determined on iPET. Isik et al. [44] revealed that the Deauville criteria are superior to other methods in terms of predicting the outcomes in paediatric patients with HL using iPET data. The "sensitive" determination of the Deauville score on iPET yielded a statistically significant prediction of the 3-year PFS with Se, Sp, and NPV of 80%, 63%, and 97%, respectively.

A significant difference was observed between the median values of maxSUVmax, TMTV, and TLG on bPET according to the 5-grade Deauville score. ROC analysis revealed that a prevision of an inadequate response to therapy on iPET (based on the Deauville score) at an individual level could be possible from those variables on bPET (Table 10). The SUVmax of the spinal cord at Th12 can also yield a predictive value for a high Deauville score, as indicated by the findings of the pilot study. Nevertheless, the interpretation of iPET is necessary for determining the Deauville score.

The mechanism underlying this high FDG uptake by the spleen and the bone marrow at baseline observed frequently (approximately 40%) showed no evidence of HL invasion on FDG PET/CT. Furthermore, the decrease observed after two cycles of treatment, which could not be precisely elucidated, is evocative of a paraneoplastic influence of HL at the sites without tumour invasion. The close correlation of the SUVmax of the spleen and the bone marrow of the iliac crest with the variables characterising the extent and activity of HL on bPET confirm this hypothesis (Table 9). HL is characterised by the presence of multinucleated giant cells (Hodgkin/Reed–Sternberg cells; H/RS) or large mononuclear cells (e.g., lymphocytic and histiocytic cells), accounting for approximately 1% of the cells, in a background of inflammatory cells such as small lymphocytes, histiocytes, neutrophils, eosinophils, plasma cells, and fibroblasts. In addition, the close correlation of the SUVmax of the organs without invasion on bPET, including the liver and spinal cord, indicates a common cause stimulating the uptake of FDG by different organs.

Two sites responded to the therapy in a different way compared to HL tissue, spleen and bone marrow showing a decrease in FDG uptake.

The liver uptake on iPET exhibited an increase more frequently than that on bPET. This increase may jeopardise its value as a reference organ for the visual assessment of the Deauville criteria. Notably, the FDG uptake of some HL tissue that progressed may appear lesser than that of the liver, despite being more intense visually than that of the liver at baseline.
The response of the spinal cord at Th12 was somewhat intermediate between that of the liver (overall increase) and spleen and that of the bone marrow and the HL tissue (overall decrease), confirming the result of the pilot study without a clear rational for this repeated observation.

V.2.3. Aspects that could not be addressed in the validation study

The last objective of the pilot study was to determine the potential predictive value of the FDG uptake by sites without tumour invasion on bPET and iPET on the subsequent PFS at the end of the initial treatment. An encouraging result was achieved with a combination of the results of SUVmax of the liver and spinal cord at Th12. The proportion of relapse is low among children; thus, this result was based on a small number of events. This limitation of our pilot study, which was also criticised in a Letter to the Editor [49], has been acknowledged by the research team [71]. However, the results of long lasting follow-up (5 years were scheduled) of the patients of the present series could not be collected owing to logistical shortage caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Therefore, the end point of the validation study was the response to two cycles of treatment evaluated using DS. The variables that quantify the FDG uptake by the HL tissue exhibited a considerable advantage as DS is also based on the observation of the FDG uptake by the HL tissue. Nevertheless, as observed in the pilot study, the SUVmax of the spinal cord at Th12 added information to the TLG to delineate a CR on iPET according to the Deauville criteria.

V.3. Discussion of the "BAT on bPET" studies

In the pilot study, the FDG uptake by structures without tumour invasion as a potential determinant for predicting HL activity and prognosis was evaluated. Activation of BAT was observed on FDG PET/CT images at the time of diagnosis in two patients only

(2/30; 7%), which is consistent with the prevalence of 10% (3/31) reported by Gilsanz et al. [32]. The validation study yielded a prevalence slightly higher than that observed in the pilot study (13/112; 12%). The findings of these studies led to the evaluation of the prevalence of BAT activity and its influencing factors in a larger paediatric cohort. The results of our studies focusing on BAT activation has been accepted for publication [43, 72].

The prevalence of positive FDG uptake by BAT on PET/CT was 19% (25/135) and 23.9% (22/92) in the first (comprising only patients with HL) and secound (comprising patients with HL and sarcoma) series, respectively. These frequencies do not differ from those reported previously in paediatric patients by Yeung et al. [34] (4/26; 15% vs. 16/837; 1.9% in the adult population), Cohade et al. [35] (10/42; 23.8%), Kim et al. [73] (3/22; 13.6%), and Gilsanz et al. [32] on FDG PET/CT at diagnosis (3/31; 10%). However, Drubach et al. [38] reported a high prevalence of active BAT (76/172; 44.2%), which was significantly greater than that observed in the present study (study involving 135 patients $[p \ll 0.001]$ and study with 92 patients [p = 0.0013]). Their cohort comprised 172 paediatric patients with various types of cancer, including 27% of patients with HL who underwent FDG PET/CT at the time of diagnosis or as a surveillance test. This discrepancy may be attributed to the inclusion of treated patients in the study by Drubach et al. [38]. The prevalence of active BAT in patients with HL who had received treatment was even higher in the study conducted by Gilsanz et al. [32], at 86%. This finding reinforces the hypothesis that the inclusion of patients who had received treatment in the series enhances the prevalence of BAT visualisation, rather than including only patients with pre-therapeutic FDG PET/CT images acquired at the time of diagnosis, as in the present study.

To the best of our knowledge, this study including 135 paediatric patients is the first to analyse FDG uptake by BAT in > 100 children with a homogeneous indication, HL, and

a homogeneous stage of evolution, at diagnosis, excluding the interference of the therapy.

The findings of the present study confirm that the determinants of FDG uptake by BAT differed between paediatric and adult patients. In contrast with the findings of various studies involving adult patients with HL [34, 35, 36, 37, 73, 74], the prevalence of BAT visualised on FDG PET/CT in the present study did not differ significantly between boys and girls. Furthermore, no decrease with age was observed, which is consistent with the findings of the study by Drubach et al. [38]. Thus, BAT activation increases through childhood and into adolescence, peaking around the age of 13 years in boys and girls. However, Drubach et al. [38] determined the prevalence of BAT, appearing as a hot site on FDG PET, only visually. However, they also quantified BAT activity by drawing a standard-sized region of interest in the areas with the highest FDG uptake on a coronal section within the cervical-supraclavicular BAT on CT and divided it by the FDG uptake of a region of interest in a midsection of the liver, the BAT/liver index. The value of this index peaked at 13 years. Gilsanz et al. [75] reported that the appearance and the amount of brown fat increase during puberty. The PET/CT images of patients aged 4-19.9 years who had been previously treated for paediatric malignancy but were disease-free at the time of examination were examined in their study involving 73 patients with heterogeneous diseases (patients with lymphoma and sarcoma as well). They concluded that rapid increase in brown fat observed during puberty may be attributed to the metabolic and hormonal events associated with the attainment of sexual maturity. However, similar results were not observed in the present study involving 135 patients with HL, as no significant difference in BAT visualisation according to the age class was observed (Table 11). Notably, logistic regression analysis suggested a correlation with the age of the patients in the study involving 92 patients (HL and sarcoma; age range 3-17 years). A significant correlation between the age of the patients and BAT activation in the HL subgroup (p = 0.04) and a near significant correlation in the whole group (p = 0.06) were observed.

BAT is stimulated by several factors, including exposure to cold. BAT activation was reported in adult outdoor workers in northern Finland in a previous study [76]. Histochemically, some multilocular adipose tissue, mostly around the neck arteries with increased enzyme activities of aerobic energy metabolism in the adipose tissue, have been observed in some outdoor workers. FDG PET/CT performed to detect BAT activation revealed no significant influence of outside temperature in the present study. The non-significance of this determinant in adults was initially reported by Cohade et al. [35] who noted that the incidence in the January-March period was not significantly higher in patients aged ≤18 years (35.7% vs. 17.9%, p = 0.26). Tendency of BAT activation for a colder outside temperature was observed in our study involving 135 patients (Table 11). Gilsanz et al. [32] also noted a tendency toward frequent BAT visualisation during the winter months (November, December, and January) compared with that during the rest of the year, which was not significant at the time of HL diagnosis (22% vs. 4.5%, p = 0.13). Yu Li et al. [77] could observe that local hyperthermia induce thermogenesis in human, possibly by the activation of beige adipocytes, without elevating core body temperature or catecholamine signaling (thermal source of $41^{\circ}C \pm 0.5^{\circ}C$ was applied locally to the supraclavicular fat depots of each subject for 20 min) and on the other hand, Seki et al. [78] demonstrated that coldinduced BAT activation substantially decreases the blood glucose levels and impedes glycolysis-based metabolism in cancer cells in mice. Seki et al. studied also BAT activation by exposure to mild cold in healthy individuals and a patient with Hodgkin lymphoma. They performed 18F-FDG PET/CT examinations in healthy volunteers (n=6) under thermoneutral (28 °C) and cold exposure (16 °C; 2-6 hours daily for 14 days) conditions. The patient with HL was exposed to mild cold (22 °C for 7 days). The PET/CT images confirmed activation of BAT after cold exposure, and in the case of the patient with HL it was demonstrated that mild cold conditions markedly reduced glucose uptake in the tumour tissue. Quantification of FDG uptake in the BAT showed increase and in the HL lesion showed decrease, respectively, after the cold exposure. They concluded that mild cold exposure activates BAT with mitigated glucose uptake in the tumour tissue. They explained the mechanisms underlying the tumour suppression

by cold exposure with the change in the metabolism of BAT and the cancer cell. Under the thermoneutral conditions (28-30°C), cancer cells mainly acquire energy through glycolysis (Warburg effect), however the adipose tissue (both white adipose tissue (WAT) and BAT) remains metabolically dormant without significant glucose uptake and thermogenic activity. High rates of tumour cell proliferation is supported by glycolysis-generated ATP molecules and other metabolites. But under cold exposure, both WAT and BAT undergo a browning process that increases glucose uptake and thermogenesis. Owing to the elevated glucose uptake in activated BAT and WAT, glucose uptake in tumours is significantly reduced. And owing to the limited glycolysis in cancer cell, local acidosis and tumour hypoxia are reduced. The higher frequency of BAT activation observed in our studies in patients with HL exhibiting lower TMTV and TLG values may be attributed to this finding. Interestingly, 45% of the PET/CT images acquired in autumn exhibited signs of BAT activation in our study involving 92 patients; signs of BAT activation were observed in 38% of the total number of PET/CT images acquired in autumn. However, the logistic regression model revealed a significant inverse relation between the winter season and the reference autumn season for FDG uptake by BAT in the whole group (p = 0.02). Only a trend towards significancy was observed in the subgroup of patients with HL (p = 0.08), which may be attributed to the smaller sample size. The subgroup of patients with sarcoma did not exhibit a similar relation.

Thus, it was concluded that the temperature in the injection room of the Nuclear Medicine Department. may be another determinant of BAT activation. Zukotynski et al. [79] conducted a study involving 103 patients. The patients were warmed to 24°C prior to the FDG PET/CT examination. The number of patients exhibiting FDG uptake by BAT in this group was compared with that of a control group comprising 99 patients who underwent FDG PET/CT examination when the injection room temperature was 21°C. Uptake by BAT was observed in 9% of PET/CT images acquired after patient warming and 27% of PET/CT images acquired without warming (p << 0.01). Maintaining the room temperature at 24°C for 30 min before and 1 h after the

intravenous administration of the tracer significantly decreased FDG uptake by BAT in children. This effect was greatest in winter and summer. In our present study, the temperature in the injection room of the PET/CT centres was not recorded; thus, its effect on BAT visualisation could not be controlled.

The FDG SUVmax of three organs were compared to correlate the FDG uptake by BAT with the non-specific metabolic activation of other organs without tumour invasion in relation with the presence of HL in the study involving 135 patients, according to whether BAT was visualised as hot spots. No significant difference were observed in terms of the SUVmax values for the liver, spinal cord at Th12, and bone marrow at the iliac crest after excluding the sites with possible invasion by HL (Table 11). To the best of our knowledge, no previous study has reported this finding.

Gilsanz et al. [32] reported a lower prevalence of BAT activation in patients referred to undergo FDG PET/CT at the time of HL diagnosis compared with that observed at time points showing no evidence of disease after treatment. Gilsanz et al. concluded that this observation provides new and compelling evidence for an inverse association between the activation of BAT and the presence of viable tumour in children with lymphoma, which observation is in accordance with the results of Seki et al. [78]. However, Brendle et al. [37] reported that there is no association between BAT and the metabolic activity of lymphoma in their cohort of 235 adult patients.

The present study evaluated the potential relation between BAT and HL by characterising the metabolic activity and the volume of the lesions visible on FDG PET/CT images likely to correspond to HL itself, according to whether BAT uptake could be visualised.

The TMTV and TLG values were determined by integrating all visible HL tumours as a complement to the maximum SUVmax of all HL lesions, derived from a very limited volume of HL tissue likely to be the most metabolically active. (Figure 8)

Cottereau et al. [42] reported that TLG was significantly predictive of PFS and OS in those patients, but less so than TMTV, in 108 adult patients with peripheral T-cell

lymphoma. Tatci et al. [69] reported that TMTV and several parameters derived from SUV were higher in patients with stage III–IV disease, bulky tumour, and involvement of \geq 3 lymph node groups or the spleen in their pilot study involving with 28 cases of paediatric HL. The TMTV value observed in the pre-therapeutic FDG PET/CT images were validated as a major parameter for predicting inadequate response of HL in ERA performed after two cycles of induction chemotherapy. Rogasch et al. [69], who reported an inadequate response in 28/50 children, revealed that TMTV was the best predictor for an inadequate response. The diagnostic performance of TLG was slightly poorer than that of TMTV.

The "BAT on bPET" study involving 135 patients with HL revealed a slightly significant association between the lower median values of TMTV and TLG and BAT visualisation. The subgroup of patients with HL also exhibited this near significant association regarding the TMTV and TLG values in the study involving 92 patients; however, this result could not be confirmed when combinations of several quantitative variables were tested simultaneously in logistic regression.

No statistically significant difference was observed in the subgroup of patients with sarcoma; however, a difference in the association between BAT activation and the TMTV and TLG values was found compared with that observed in the subgroup of patients with HL. BAT activation was associated with lower TMTV and TLG median or mean values in the HL subgroup, whereas BAT activation was associated with higher TMTV and TLG median or mean values in the HL subgroup, whereas BAT activation was associated with that observed in cases without BAT activation from the corresponding subgroup; unfortunately, statistical calculations could not confirm this point. No statistically significant correlation between the TMTV and TLG values of the sarcoma mass and FDG uptake by BAT on PET/CT was observed in the present study, which results may not be sufficiently powered due to the low number of sarcoma patients. This hypothesis should be evaluated in a larger cohort of patients with sarcoma. The overall results of the present study suggest that there may be a difference between more focalised cancer tissues, such as sarcoma types, and malignancies with more dispersed tumour cells, such as Hodgkin lymphoma, in terms of BAT activation.

Pheochromocytomas and paragangliomas constitute a particular condition in relation with BAT activity, given that BAT activation, proliferation, and differentiation are mediated by norepinephrine-induced β -adrenoceptor stimulation. A previous study revealed that BAT visualisation on FDG PET/CT was associated with decreased OS and higher plasma levels of norepinephrine in patients with neuroendocrine tumours [80]. Chu et al. [81] reported that BAT metabolic volume, assessed using routine FDG PET/CT, is a predictor of tumour recurrence or mortality in adult patients with nonneuroendocrine cancer. In contrast, the findings of the present study and those of the study by Gilsanz et al. [32] suggest that BAT visualisation could be associated with non-detectable or lower HL tumour mass in paediatric patients with lymphoma.



Figure 8: TMTV determination with threshold-based PET image segmentation. Delineation with a threshold of SUV >2.5 and minimum volume of 500 mm3 on PET MIP images of a patient with osteosarcoma.

1. Determination of all lesions with SUV>2.5 and minimum volume of 500 mm3 on the PET MIP image (red markings). Increased FDG uptake presented in the primary tumour (right humerus) and metastases (pulmonary, bone and lymph node). Organs with physiological FDG uptakes or FDG accumulations (i.e. in the tonsils, laryngeal muscles, urinary tract, gastrointestinal tract) also visualised. The investigator has to select manually if the segmented lesions showing SUV>2.5 belong to the tumour tissue **2**. PET image showing high FDG uptake of the primary tumour, metastases and BAT (red markings). Other, physiological FDG uptakes/accumulations are already excluded manually from the visualisation. **3**. PET image with increased FDG uptake of the primary tumour with metastases (red markings). FDG uptake of BAT excluded manually. **4**. PET image with high FDG uptake of the primary tumour tissue (red marking) [43].

VI. Conclusions

Our pilot study and validation study aimed to evaluate the frequency and intensity of visually diffuse FDG uptake by BAT and four selected organs without tumour invasion on baseline and interim PET/CT images of children with Hodgkin lymphoma.

The findings of the pilot and validation studies indicated that FDG uptake visually greater than that of the liver in at least one site without tumour invasion is observed in a large proportion of patients (72% and 77% in the validation and pilot studies, respectively) that decreases dramatically after two cycles of treatment (27% and 23% in the validation and pilot studies, respectively).

A significant increase in the FDG uptake of the liver between bPET and iPET confirms the conclusion of other studies in adults. Thus, the observation that liver FDG uptake varies across patients with HL during the course of treatment and disease should be considered carefully while defining the response to therapy as a reference organ in the interim PET in HL.

The prevalence of FDG uptake visually greater than that of the liver being observed in the bone marrow and spleen without tumour invasion was significantly higher on bPET (approximately 40% in both studies). However, visual and quantified evaluations of FDG uptake revealed that this prevalence decreased after completing two cycles of treatment. The presence of homogenous lymphoma infiltration (none of the cases had histologically-confirmed results) could not be excluded in the case of the diffuse spleen uptake. Notably, it reflects the activation and proliferation of macrophages that activation is probably in the inflammatory context of HL. The high FDG uptake at baseline by the spleen and the bone marrow not characteristic to HL invasion on FDG PET/CT images that decreased after two cycles of treatment is evocative of a paraneoplastic influence of HL on the sites without tumour invasion. This hypothesis is confirmed by the close correlation of the SUVmax values of the spleen and the bone marrow of the iliac crest with the variables characterising the extent and activity of HL on bPET (TMTV and TLG).

The variation in the uptake of FDG uptake by the spinal cord at Th12 between bPET and iPET indicates a significant reduction on iPET at visual interpretation. This is in contrast with the non-significant increase observed in the actual FDG uptake between bPET and iPET. Visual comparison of the uptake of the liver that increased (in 85% of cases) can lead to the incorrect conclusion that the number of cases with hypermetabolism of the spinal cord decreased.

An increase in the proportion of children with BAT activation on iPET was observed after two cycles of treatment compared with that on bPET; however, this difference did not reach the significance level in the three-fold larger cohort. The findings of the additional "BAT on bPET" studies confirmed the findings of previously published studies, derived from heterogeneous conditions, that the epidemiology of BAT activation varies between paediatric patients and adults. No significant differences were observed between boys and girls in the present study in terms of BAT visualisation. BAT activation was not linked with the metabolic activation of the liver, bone marrow, or spinal cord, which may be observed in paediatric patients owing to the presence of the HL. Nevertheless, the findings of the present study suggest that BAT visualisation could be associated with a lower HL tumour mass. These studies also emphasised the importance of influencing factors, such as the temperature in injection rooms in PET/CT laboratories, in terms of the connection between the season or outside temperature and BAT activation. Furthermore, the findings of the present studies also indicated that a correlation may be observed between BAT visualisation and age in paediatric patients with HL.

Other objective was to evaluate the relation between FDG uptake by the four organs without tumour invasion (SUVmax) and that by the HL lesions (maxSUVmax, TMTV, and TLG) prior to treatment on bPET.

A significant positive correlation between the maxSUVmax of HL and the SUVmax of the sites without tumour invasion was observed before treatment. Strong correlations were also observed between the FDG uptake (SUVmax) of the four sites without tumour invasion on bPET and iPET. The greatest correlation coefficients were observed between the bone marrow and spleen on bPET and iPET, and between the liver and spleen on bPET that reduced on iPET. Prevision at an individual level of an inadequate response to therapy could be possible either on iPET (based on DS) or using variables on bPET such as HL maxSUVmax, TMTV, and TLG.

The last objective was to evaluate the correlation of the FDG uptake by BAT and the four organs without tumour invasion with the remaining metabolic activity of HL after treatment. Two unfavourable criteria, namely, lack of increase in the FDG uptake of the liver and increase of >5% in the FDG uptake of the spinal cord at Th12, were derived from the evolution of diffuse uptake by organs between the FDG PET/CT acquisitions performed at the time of diagnosis (baseline) and after two cycles of treatment (interim) in the pilot study. Patients who satisfied these criteria seemed to be at high risk of developing refractory Hodgkin lymphoma and/or early relapse. The results of the validation study indicated that patients whose iPET is likely to correspond to an inadequate response can be delineated based on the FDG uptake by the lymphoma lesions on bPET (best with TLG, significant with TMTV, and borderline with maxSUVmax) and the FDG uptake of the spinal cord at Th12 or of the spleen without tumour invasion on iPET after two cycles of chemotherapy.

Multivariate analysis for the prediction of "complete metabolic response" according to the "conservative" interpretation of Deauville Score (DS of ≤ 3 was considered nonindicative for relapse) revealed that TLG on bPET and variation in the spinal cord uptake on Th12 (between bPET and iPET) were significant contributors. Multivariate analysis for the prediction of "complete metabolic response" according to the "sensitive" interpretation of DS (DS of ≥ 3 as indicative for relapse) identified TLG on bPET as the single significant contributor.

VII. Summary

The detection of non-tumour-specific FDG uptake by structures that are not invaded by malignant tissue on the PET/CT images has been reported for a long time, and is considered as a potential pitfall. This thesis aimed to elucidate the possible importance of FDG uptake by focusing on paediatric patients with onco-haematological diseases. Diffuse and intense FDG uptake could provide additional information that reflects the metabolic status of the patient, thereby aiding treatment management, which is a major objective in this specific patient population.

A pilot study and a validation study were conducted to analyse the frequency and intensity of diffuse FDG uptake by selected organs (thymus, bone marrow, liver, spleen, and spinal cord) and the prevalence of BAT activation on bPET and iPET. Studies focusing on BAT activation were also presented. We aimed to evaluate the correlation between FDG uptake of these non-tumour-specific sites, the metabolic response of the tumour tissue, and evolution of the disease with treatment.

Diffuse and intense FDG uptake is frequently observed at sites without tumour invasion in children with HL prior to treatment. However, the prevalence of this observation is frequently reduced after two cycles of chemotherapy. In contrast, the FDG uptake by the normal liver tissue is frequently enhanced. Inadequate response may be connected to the lack of increase in the liver FDG uptake after two cycles of chemotherapy, FDG uptake by the lymphoma on baseline PET, and FDG uptake of the spinal cord or spleen without tumour invasion on iPET.

It could be a further perspective to continue the evaluation of the value of the non-tumour-specific FDG uptake in the prediction of PFS by reaching a longer clinical follow-up in a larger patient group. Comparing the behaviour of such non-tumour-specific FDG uptake among different types of paediatric onco-haematological populations is another objective that arose in this thesis.

VIII. References

- Talbot JN, Haioun C, Rain JD, Meignan M, Wioland M, Misset JL, Grahek D, Kerrou K, Montravers F. [18F]-FDG positron imaging in clinical management of lymphoma patients. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2001;38(3):193-221. DOI: 10.1016/s1040-8428(01)00127-5
- Montravers F, McNamara D, Landman-Parker J, Grahek D, Kerrou K, Younsi N, Wioland M, Leverger G, Talbot JN. [¹⁸F]FDG in childhood lymphoma: clinical utility and impact on management. Eur J Nucl Med 2002;29: 1155-1165. DOI: 10.1007/s00259-002-0861-y
- Pastore G, Magnani C, Verdecchia A, Pession A, Viscomi S, Coebergh JW. Survival of childhood lymphomas in Europe, 1978–1992: a report from the EUROCARE study. Eur J Cancer 2001; 37:703-710. DOI: 10.1016/s0959-8049(01)00002-8
- 4. Philip T, Bergeron C, Frappaz D. Management of paediatric lymphoma. Baillieres Clin Haematol 1996; 9:769-797. DOI: 10.1016/s0950-3536(96)80053-9
- Kostakoglu L, Goldsmith SJ. Fluorine-18 fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography in the staging and follow-up of lymphoma: is it time to shift gears? Eur J Nucl Med 2000;27:1564-1578. DOI: 10.1007/s002590000340

- Jochelson M, Mauch P, Balikian J, Rosenthal D, Canellos G. The significance of the residual mediastinal mass in treated Hodgkin's disease. J Clin Oncol 1985; 3:637–640. DOI: <u>10.1200/JCO.1985.3.5.637</u>
- Hermann S, Wormanns D, Pixberg M, Hunold A, Heindel W, Jürgens H, Schober O, Franzius C. Staging in childhood lymphoma: differences between FDG-PET and CT. Nuklearmedizin. 2005;44(1):1-7. DOI: 10.1267/nukl05010001
- Hernandez-Pampaloni M, Takalkar A, Q Yu J, Zhuang H, Alavi A. F-18 FDG-PET imaging and correlation with CT in staging and follow-up of pediatric lymphomas. Pediatr Radiol. 2006 Jun;36(6):524-531. DOI: 10.1007/s00247-006-0152-z
- Kabickova E, Sumerauer D, Cumlivska E, Drahokoupilova E, Nekolna M, Chanova M, Hladikova M, Kodet R, Belohlavek O. Comparison of 18F-FDG-PET and standard procedures for the pretreatment staging of children and adolescents with Hodgkin's disease. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2006;33(9):1025-1031. DOI: 10.1007/s00259-005-0019-9
- Meany HJ, Gidvani VK, Minniti CP. Utility of PET scans to predict disease relapse in pediatric patients with Hodgkin lymphoma. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2007;48(4):399-402. DOI: 10.1002/pbc.20797
- 11. Lin C, Itti E, Haioun C, Petegnief Y, Luciani A, Dupuis J, Paone G, Talbot JN, Rahmouni A, Meignan M. Early 18F-FDG PET for prediction of prognosis in patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: SUV-based assessment versus visual analysis. J Nucl Med. 2007;48(10):1626-1632. DOI: 10.2967/jnumed.107.042093

- Meignan M, Gallamini A, Haioun C. Report on the first international workshop on interim-PET-scan in lymphoma. Leuk Lymphoma. 2009;50:1257-1260. DOI: 10.1080/10428190903040048
- Eichenauer DA, Engert A, Dreyling M; ESMO Guidelines Working Group. Hodgkin's lymphoma: ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2011;22 Suppl 6:VI55-58. DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdr378
- Rhodes MM, Delbeke D, Whitlock JA, Martin W, Kuttesch JF, Frangoul HA, Shankar S. Utility of FDG-PET/CT in follow-up of children treated for Hodgkin and non-Hodgkin lymphoma. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol. 2006;28(5):300-306. DOI: 10.1097/01.mph.0000212912.37512.b1
- 15. London K, Cross S, Onikul E, Dalla-Pozza L, Howman-Giles R. 18F-FDG PET/CT in paediatric lymphoma: comparison with conventional imaging. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2011;38(2):274-284. DOI: 10.1007/s00259-010-1619-6
- 16. Cheng G, Servaes S, Zhuang H. Value of 18F-fluoro-2-deoxy-D-glucose positron emission tomography/computed tomography scan versus diagnostic contrast computed tomography in initial staging of pediatric patients with lymphoma. Leuk Lymphoma. 2013;54(4):737-742. DOI: 10.3109/10428194.2012.727416
- 17. Kluge R, Kurch L, Montravers F, Mauz-Körholz C. FDG PET/CT in children and adolescents with lymphoma. Pediatr Radiol. 2013;43(4):406-417. DOI: 10.1007/s00247-012-2559-z
- Kaatsch P. Epidemiology of childhood cancer. Cancer Treat Rev 2010:36:277-285. DOI: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2010.02.003

- Harris NL, Jaffe ES, Stein H, Banks PM, Chan JK, Cleary ML, Delsol G, Wolf-Peeters CDe, Falini B, Gatter KC. A revised European-American classification of lymphoid neoplasm: a proposal from the International Lymphoma Study Group. Blood 1994;84:1361-1392. PMID: 8068936.
- 20. Hansmann ML, Willenbrock K. Die WHO-Klassifikation des Hodgkin-Lymphoms und ihre molekulargenetische Relevanz. Der Pathologe 2002;29:1393-1398. DOI: 10.1007/s00292-002-0529-1
- Mauz-Körholz C, Hasenclever D, Dörffel W, Ruschke K, Pelz T, Voigt A, Stiefel M, Winkler M, Vilser C, Dieckmann K, Karlén J, Bergsträsser E, Fosså A, Mann G, Hummel M, Klapper W, Stein H, Vordermark D, Kluge R, Körholz D. Procarbazine-free OEPA-COPDAC chemotherapy in boys and standard OPPA-COPP in girls have comparable effectiveness in pediatric Hodgkin's lymphoma: the GPOH-HD-2002 study. J Clin Oncol 2010; 28:3680-3686. DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2009.26.9381
- 22. EANM Young Investigators 2012. The multimodality approach in paediatric oncology: impact on therapy and patient management. Eur J Nucl Med. 2012:1997-1998. DOI: 10.1007/s00259-012-2235-4
- Weinblatt ME, Zanzi I, Belakhlef A, Babchyck B, Kochen J. False-positive FDG-PET imaging of the thymus of a child with Hodgkin's disease. J Nucl Med. 1997;38(6):888-890. PMID: 9189136.
- 24. Levine JM, Weiner M, Kelly KM. Routine use of PET scans after completion of therapy in pediatric Hodgkin disease results in a high false positive rate. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol. 2006;28(11):711-714. DOI: 10.1097/01.mph.0000243648.66734.eb

- 25. Jorgov L, Montravers F, Balogova S, Ragu C, Pacquement H, Leblanc T, Abbou S, Ducou-Lepointe H, Landman-Parker J, Talbot JN. Paediatric and adolescent Hodgkin lymphoma: information derived from diffuse organ uptake of 18 F-fluorodeoxyglucose on pre-treatment and on interim PET/CT. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2016;43(7):1220-1230. DOI: 10.1007/s00259-015-3280-6
- 26. Furth C, Steffen IG, Amthauer H, Ruf J, Misch D, Schönberger S, Kobe C, Denecke T, Stöver B, Hautzel H, Henze G, Hundsdoerfer P. Early and late therapy response assessment with [18F]fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography in pediatric Hodgkin's lymphoma: analysis of a prospective multicenter trial. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(26):4385-4391. DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2008.19.7814
- Valizadeh P, Jannatdoust P, Tahamtan M, Ghorani H, Dorcheh SS, Farnoud K, Salahshour F. Diagnostic performance of different imaging modalities for splenic malignancies: A comparative meta-analysis. Eur J Radiol Open. 2024;12:100566. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.ejro.2024.100566</u>
- Kaste SC, Howard SC, McCarville EB, Krasin MJ, Kogos PG, Hudson MM. 18F-FDG-avid sites mimicking active disease in pediatric Hodgkin's. Pediatr Radiol. 2005;35(2):141-154. DOI: 10.1007/s00247-004-1340-3
- Paes FM, Kalkanis DG, Sideras PA, Serafini AN. FDG PET/CT of extranodal involvement in non-Hodgkin lymphoma and Hodgkin disease. Radiographics. 2010;30(1):269-291. DOI: 10.1148/rg.301095088
- 30. Salaun PY, Gastinne T, Bodet-Milin C, Campion L, Cambefort P, Moreau A, LeGouill S, Berthou C, Moreau P, Kraeber-Bodéré F. Analysis of 18F-FDG PET diffuse bone marrow uptake and splenic uptake in staging of Hodgkin's

lymphoma: a reflection of disease infiltration or just inflammation? Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2009;36(11):1813-1821. DOI: <u>10.1007/s00259-009-1183-0</u>

- 31. De Jong PA, van Ufford HM, Baarslag HJ, de Haas MJ, Wittebol SH, Quekel LG, de Klerk JM. CT and 18F-FDG PET for noninvasive detection of splenic involvement in patients with malignant lymphoma. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2009;192(3):745-753. DOI: 10.2214/AJR.08.1160
- 32. Gilsanz V, Hu HH, Smith ML, Goodarzian F, Carcich SL, Warburton NM, Malogolowkin M. The depiction of brown adipose tissue is related to disease status in pediatric patients with lymphoma. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2012;198(4):909-913. DOI: 10.2214/AJR.11.7488
- 33. Hany TF, Gharehpapagh E, Kamel EM, Buck A, Himms-Hagen J, Von Schulthess GK. Brown adipose tissue: a factor to consider in symmetrical tracer uptake in the neck and upper chest region. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2002;29:1393-1398. DOI: 10.1007/s00259-002-0902-6
- 34. Yeung HW, Grewal RK, Gonen M, Schöder H, Larson SM. Patterns of 18F-FDG uptake in adipose tissue and muscle: a potential source of false-positives for PET. J Nucl Med. 2003;44(11):1789-1796. PMID: 14602861.
- 35. Cohade C, Mourtzikos KA, Wahl RL. "USA-Fat": prevalence is related to ambient outdoor temperature-evaluation with 18F-FDG PET/CT. J Nucl Med. 2003;44(8):1267-1270. PMID: 12902417.
- 36. Ouellet V, Routhier-Labadie A, Bellemare W, Lakhal-Chaieb L, Turcotte E, Carpentier AC, Richard D. Outdoor temperature, age, sex, body mass index, and diabetic status determine the prevalence, mass, and glucose-uptake activity of

18F-FDG-detected BAT in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96(1):192-199. DOI: 10.1210/jc.2010-0989

- Brendle C, Stefan N, Grams E, Soekler M, la Fougère C, Pfannenberg C. Determinants of activity of brown adipose tissue in lymphoma patients. Sci Rep. 2020;10(1):21802. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-020-78419-7
- 38. Drubach LA, Palmer EL 3rd, Connolly LP, Baker A, Zurakowski D, Cypess AM. Pediatric brown adipose tissue: detection, epidemiology, and differences from adults. J Pediatr. 2011;159(6):939-944. DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2011.06.028
- 39. Juweid ME, Stroobants S, Hoekstra OS, Mottaghy FM, Dietlein M, Guermazi A, Wiseman GA, Kostakoglu L, Scheidhauer K, Buck A, Naumann R, Spaepen K, Hicks RJ, Weber WA, Reske SN, Schwaiger M, Schwartz LH, Zijlstra JM, Siegel BA, Cheson BD. Use of positron emission tomography for response assessment of lymphoma: consensus of the Imaging Subcommittee of International Harmonization Project in Lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(5):571-578. DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2006.08.2305
- 40. Barrington SF, Mikhaeel NG, Kostakoglu L, Meignan M, Hutchings M, Müeller SP, Schwartz LH, Zucca E, Fisher RI, Trotman J, Hoekstra OS, Hicks RJ, O'Doherty MJ, Hustinx R, Biggi A, Cheson BD. Role of imaging in the staging and response assessment of lymphoma: consensus of the International Conference on Malignant Lymphomas Imaging Working Group. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(27):3048-3058. DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2013.53.5229
- 41. Cheson BD, Fisher RI, Barrington SF, Cavalli F, Schwartz LH, Zucca E, Lister TA. Recommendations for initial evaluation, staging, and response assessment of Hodgkin and non-Hodgkin lymphoma: the Lugano classification. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32:3059-3068. DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2013.54.8800

- 42. Cottereau AS, Becker S, Broussais F, Casasnovas O, Kanoun S, Roques M, Charrier N, Bertrand S, Delarue R, Bonnet C, Hustinx R, Gaulard P, de Leval L, Vera P, Itti E, Mounier N, Haioun C, Tilly H, Meignan M. Prognostic value of baseline total metabolic tumor volume (TMTV0) measured on FDG-PET/CT in patients with peripheral T-cell lymphoma (PTCL). Ann Oncol. 2016;27(4):719-724. DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdw011
- 43. Jorgov L, Magyar B, Piroska M, Czibor S, Györke T. Brown adipose tissue activation in paediatric and adolescent oncological (Hodgkin lymphoma or sarcoma) cases visualised on FDG PET/CT. Imaging. 2024; online first; DOI: 10.1556/1647.2024.00262
- 44. Isik EG, Kuyumcu S, Kebudi R, Sanli Y, Karakas Z, Cakir FB, Unal SN. Prediction of outcome in pediatric Hodgkin lymphoma based on interpretation of 18FDG-PET/CT according to ΔSUVmax, Deauville 5-point scale and IHP criteria. Ann Nucl Med. 2017;31(9):660-668. DOI: 10.1007/s12149-017-1196-x
- 45. Escudier A, Courbage S, Meignin V, Abbou S, Sauvion S, Houlier M, Galerne A, Gaudelus J, de Pontual L, Simonin M. Kikuchi-Fujimoto disease mimicking malignant lymphoma in adolescents. Arch Pediatr. 2017;24(5):471-475. DOI: 10.1016/j.arcped.2017.02.027
- 46. Kiamanesh Z, Banezhad F, Nasiri Z, Emami F, Treglia G, Sadeghi R. Physiological distribution of 18F-FDG in the spinal cord: A systematic review. J Spinal Cord Med. 2021; 44(4): 517-524. DOI: 10.1080/10790268.2019.1672954
- 47. Marko M, Lesko P, Jurenova D, Furda R, Gregus M. Importance of PET/CT examination in patients with malignant uveal melanoma. Ceská a slovenská

oftalmologie: casopis Ceské oftalmologické spolecnosti a Slovenské oftalmologické spolecnosti. 2020;76(1):37-44. DOI: 10.31348/2020/5

- 48. Ibrahim F, Gabelloni M, Faggioni L, Padma S, Visakh A R, Cioni D, Neri E. Are Semiquantitative Methods Superior to Deauville Scoring in the Monitoring Therapy Response for Pediatric Hodgkin Lymphoma? J. Pers. Med. 2023; 13, 445. DOI: 10.3390/jpm13030445
- 49. Kluge R, Kurch L, Georgi T, Hasenclever D. Do paraneoplastic changes in diffuse FDG organ uptake predict relapse? - Wait for confirmation study : Reply to Jorgov et al. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2017;44(1):170-171. DOI: 10.1007/s00259-016-3534-y
- 50. Priola AM, Veltri A, Priola SM. FDG PET/CT for the evaluation of normal thymus, lymphoma recurrence, and mediastinal lymphoma in pediatric patients. Radiology. 2012;264(3):918-919. DOI: 10.1148/radiol.12120724
- 51. Patel PM, Alibazoglu H, Ali A, Fordham E, LaMonica G. Normal thymic uptake of FDG on PET imaging. Clin Nucl Med 1996;21(10): 772-775. DOI: 10.1097/00003072-199610000-00004
- 52. Brink I, Reinhardt MJ, Hoegerle S, Altehoefer C, Moser E, Nitzsche EU. Increased metabolic activity in the thymus gland studied with 18FFDG PET: age dependency and frequency after chemotherapy. J Nucl Med 2001;42(4):591-595. PMID: 11337547.
- 53. Jerushalmi J, Frenkel A, Bar-Shalom R, Khoury J, Israel O. Physiologic thymic uptake of 18F-FDG in children and young adults: a PET/CT evaluation of incidence, patterns, and relationship to treatment. J Nucl Med 2009;50(6):849-853. DOI: 10.2967/jnumed.108.058586

- 54. Gawande RS, Khurana A, Messing S, Zhang D, Castaneda RT, Goldsby RE, Hawkins RA, Daldrup-Link HE. Differentiation of normal thymus from anterior mediastinal lymphoma and lymphoma recurrence at pediatric PET/CT. Radiology 2012;262(2):613-622. DOI: 10.1148/radiol.11110715
- 55. Kamoto Y, Sadato N, Yonekura Y, Tsuchida T, Uematsu H, Waki A, Uchida K, Baba H, Imura S, Konishi J. Visualization of the cervical spinal cord with FDG and high-resolution PET. J Comput Assist Tomogr 1998;22:487-491. DOI: 10.1097/00004728-199805000-00023
- 56. Do BH, Mari C, Tseng JR, Quon A, Rosenberg J, Biswal S. Pattern of 18F-FDG uptake in the spinal cord in patients with non-central nervous system malignancy. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2011;36(21):E1395-401. DOI: 10.1097/BRS.0b013e31820a7df8
- 57. Amin A, Rosenbaum SJ, Bockisch A. Physiological 18F-FDG uptake by the spinal cord: is it a point of consideration for cancer patients? J Neurooncol. 2012;107(3):609-615. DOI: 10.1007/s11060-011-0785-0
- 58. McCarville MB, Monu N, Smeltzer MP, Li CS, Laningham FH, Morris EB, Shulkin BL. PET-CT of the normal spinal cord in children. Acad Radiol. 2009;16(7):881-885. DOI: 10.1016/j.acra.2009.01.022
- 59. Taralli S, Leccisotti L, Mattoli MV, Castaldi P, de Waure C, Mancuso A, Rufini V. Physiological activity of spinal cord in children. An 18F-FDG PET-CT study. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2015;40(11):E647-652. DOI: 10.1097/BRS.00000000000895

- 60. Vera P, Ouvrier MJ, Hapdey S, Thillays M, Pesquet AS, Diologent B, Callonec F, Hitzel A, Edet-Sanson A, Ménard JF, Jardin F, Tilly H. Does chemotherapy influence the quantification of SUV when contrast-enhanced CT is used in PET/CT in lymphoma? Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2007;34(12):1943-1952. DOI: 10.1007/s00259-007-0504-4
- 61. Barrington SF, Qian W, Somer EJ, Franceschetto A, Bagni B, Brun E, Almquist H, Loft A, Højgaard L, Federico M, Gallamini A, Smith P, Johnson P, Radford J, O'Doherty MJ. Concordance between four European centres of PET reporting criteria designed for use in multicentre trials in Hodgkin lymphoma. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2010;37(10):1824-1833. DOI: 10.1007/s00259-010-1490-5
- 62. Biggi A, Gallamini A, Chauvie S, Hutchings M, Kostakoglu L, Gregianin M, Meignan M, Malkowski B, Hofman MS, Barrington SF. International validation study for interim PET in ABVD-treated, advanced-stage hodgkin lymphoma: interpretation criteria and concordance rate among reviewers. J Nucl Med. 2013;54(5):683-690. DOI: 10.2967/jnumed.112.110890
- 63. Kajáry K, Molnár Z, Györke T, Szakáll S Jr, Molnár P, Lengyel Z. Comparison of the International Harmonization Project, London and Gallamini criteria in the interpretation of 18F-FDG PET/CT examinations after first-line treatment in Hodgkin's lymphoma. Nucl Med Commun. 2014;35(2):169-175. DOI: 10.1097/MNM.00000000000024
- 64. Itti E, Meignan M, Berriolo-Riedinger A, Biggi A, Cashen AF, Véra P, Tilly H, Siegel BA, Gallamini A, Casanovas RO, Haioun C. An international confirmatory study of the prognostic value of early PET/CT in diffuse large Bcell lymphoma: comparison between Deauville criteria and Δ SUVmax. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2013;40(9):1312-1320. DOI: 10.1007/s00259-013-2435-6

- 65. Hoang JK, Das SK, Choudhury KR, Yoo DS, Brizel DM. Using FDG-PET to measure early treatment response in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: quantifying intrinsic variability in order to understand treatment-induced change. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2013;34(7):1428-1433. DOI: 10.3174/ajnr.A3412
- 66. Zwarthoed C, El-Galaly TC, Canepari M, Ouvrier MJ, Viotti J, Ettaiche M, Viviani S, Rigacci L, Trentin L, Rusconi C, Luminari S, Cantonetti M, Bolis S, Borra A, Darcourt J, Salvi F, Subocz E, Tajer J, Kulikowski W, Malkowski B, Zaucha JM, Gallamini A. Prognostic value of bone marrow tracer uptake pattern in baseline PET scans in Hodgkin lymphoma: results from an international collaborative study. J Nucl Med. 2017;58(8):1249-1254. DOI: 10.2967/jnumed.116.184218
- 67. Sugawara Y, Fisher SJ, Zasadny KR, Kison PV, Baker LH, Wahl RL. Preclinical and clinical studies of bone marrow uptake of fluorine-1-fluorodeoxyglucose with or without granulocyte colony-stimulating factor during chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol 1998;16:173-180. DOI: 10.1200/JCO.1998.16.1.173
- 68. Chiaravalloti A, Danieli R, Abbatiello P, Di Pietro B, Travascio L, Cantonetti M, Guazzaroni M, Orlacchio A, Simonetti G, Schillaci O. Factors affecting intrapatient liver and mediastinal blood pool ¹⁸F-FDG standardized uptake value changes during ABVD chemotherapy in Hodgkin's lymphoma. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2014;41(6):1123-1132. DOI: 10.1007/s00259-014-2703-0
- 69. Tatcı E, Uslu Biner İ, Emir S, Tanyıldız HG, Özmen Ö, Alagöz E, Gökçek A, Şahin G. The correlation between pre-treatment fluorodeoxyglucose Positron Emission Tomography/Computed Tomography parameters and clinical prognostic factors in pediatric Hodgkin lymphoma. Mol Imaging Radionucl Ther. 2017;26(1):9-16. DOI: 10.4274/mirt.94914

- 70. Rogasch JMM, Hundsdoerfer P, Hofheinz F, Wedel F, Schatka I, Amthauer H, Furth C. Pretherapeutic FDG-PET total metabolic tumor volume predicts response to induction therapy in pediatric Hodgkin's lymphoma. BMC Cancer. 2018;18(1):521. DOI: 10.1186/s12885-018-4432-4
- 71. Jorgov L, Montravers F, Balogova S, Landman-Parker J, Talbot JN. Do paraneoplastic changes in diffuse FDG organ uptake predict relapse? - Wait for confirmation study Reply to Kluge et al. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2017;44(1):172. DOI: 10.1007/s00259-016-3535-x
- 72. Jorgov L, Cottereau AS, Balogova S, Montravers F, Talbot JN. FDG uptake by brown adipose tissue in paediatric and adolescent Hodgkin lymphoma, visualised on PET/CT performed at diagnosis. In: Jekunen Antti ed. The evolution of radionanotargeting towards clinical precision oncology; Bentham books; 2022; 317-326. DOI: 10.2174/9781681088655122010030
- 73. Kim S, Krynyckyi BR, Machac J, Kim CK. Temporal relation between temperature change and FDG uptake in brown adipose tissue. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2008;35(5):984-989. DOI: 10.1007/s00259-007-0670-4
- 74. Pace L, Nicolai E, D'Amico D, Ibello F, Della Morte AM, Salvatore B, Pizzuti LM, Salvatore M, Soricelli A. Determinants of physiologic 18F-FDG uptake in brown adipose tissue in sequential PET/CT examinations. Mol Imaging Biol. 2011;13(5):1029-1035. DOI: 10.1007/s11307-010-0431-9
- 75. Gilsanz V, Smith ML, Goodarzian F, Kim M, Wren TA, Hu HH. Changes in brown adipose tissue in boys and girls during childhood and puberty. J Pediatr. 2012 Apr;160(4):604-609. DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2011.09.035

- 76. Huttunen P, Hirvonen J, Kinnula V. The occurrence of brown adipose tissue in outdoor workers. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol. 1981;46(4):339-345. DOI: 10.1007/BF00422121
- 77. Yu Li, Dongmei Wang, Xiaodan Ping, Yankang Zhang, Ting Zhang, Li Wang, Li Jin, Wenjun Zhao, Mingwei Guo, Fei Shen, Meiyao Meng, Xin Chen, Ying Zheng, Jiqiu Wang, Dali Li, Qiang Zhang, Cheng Hu, Lingyan Xu, Xinran Ma. Local hyperthermia therapy induces browning of white fat and treats obesity. Cell. 2022; 949-966.e19. DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2022.02.004
- 78. Seki T, Yang Y, Sun X, Lim S, Xie S, Guo Z, Xiong W, Kuroda M, Sakaue H, Hosaka K, Jing X, Yoshihara M, Qu L, Li X, Chen Y, Cao Y. Brown-fatmediated tumour suppression by cold-altered global metabolism. Nature. 2022 Aug;608(7922):421-428. DOI: 10.1038/s41586-022-05030-3
- 79. Zukotynski KA, Fahey FH, Laffin S, Davis R, Treves ST, Grant FD, Drubach L. Seasonal variation in the effect of constant ambient temperature of 24 degrees C in reducing FDG uptake by brown adipose tissue in children. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2010;37(10):1854-1860. DOI: 10.1007/s00259-010-1485-2
- 80. Sater ZA, Jha A, Hamimi A, Mandl A, Hartley IR, Gubbi S, Patel M, Gonzales M, Taïeb D, Civelek AC, Gharib AM, Auh S, O'Mara AE, Pacak K, Cypess AM. Pheochromocytoma and Paraganglioma Patients With Poor Survival Often Show Brown Adipose Tissue Activation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2020; 105(4):1176-1185. DOI: 10.1210/clinem/dgz314
- 81. Chu K, Bos SA, Gill CM, Torriani M, Bredella MA. Brown adipose tissue and cancer progression. Skeletal Radiol. 2020;49(4):635-639. DOI: 10.1007/s00256-019-03322-w

IX. Bibliography of the candidate's publication

Publications connected to the thesis:

- Jorgov L, Montravers F, Balogova S, Ragu C, Pacquement H, Leblanc T, Abbou S, Ducou-Lepointe H, Landman-Parker J, Talbot JN. Paediatric and adolescent Hodgkin lymphoma: information derived from diffuse organ uptake of 18 Ffluorodeoxyglucose on pretreatment and on interim PET/CT. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2016;43(7):1220-1230. DOI: 10.1007/s00259-015-3280-6
- Jorgov L, Montravers F, Balogova S, Landman-Parker J, Talbot JN. Do paraneoplastic changes in diffuse FDG organ uptake predict relapse? Wait for confirmation study Reply to Kluge et al. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2017; 44: 172-172. DOI: 10.1007/s00259-016-3535-x
- Jorgov L, Cottereau AS, Balogova S, Montravers F, Talbot JN, FDG Uptake by brown adipose tissue in paediatric and adolescent Hodgkin lymphoma, visualised on PET/CT performed at diagnosis. In: Jekunen Antti ed. The evolution of radionanotargeting towards clinical precision oncology. Bentham books. 2022; 317-326. DOI: 10.2174/9781681088655122010030
- Jorgov L, Magyar B, Piroska M, Czibor S, Györke T. Brown adipose tissue activation in paediatric and adolescent oncological (Hodgkin lymphoma or sarcoma) cases visualised on FDG PET/CT. Imaging. 2024; online first. DOI: 10.1556/1647.2024.00262

Publications beyond the topic of the thesis:

 Györke T, Carr R, Cerci J Jokinen, Meneghetti C, Redondo F, Celli M, Gorospe Ch, Auewarakul Ch U, Jorgov L, Paez D, Fanti S. Combined visual and semiquantitative evaluation improves outcome prediction by early mid-treatment 18 F-fluoro-deoxiglucose positron emission tomography in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. J Nucl Med. 2020;61(7):999-1005. DOI: 10.2967/jnumed.119.231621

X. Acknowledgements

I would like to extend my gratitude to Professor Jean-Noël Talbot for initiating our research on non-specific FDG uptake in paediatric patients with lymphoma and guiding me in the process of performing the thesis.

I would also like to thank the Nuclear Medicine Department, Semmelweis University, Budapest, for their support, in particular, to Tamás Györke who guided me through my studies.